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Our Vision

To be a global one-stop interconnect solutions provider, specialised 

in the design, manufacture and assembly of a broad range of high 

quality FPC products at more competitive prices and with shorter 

lead times.



Corporate Structure

MFSS MFS Technology (S) Pte Ltd

100%

MFSM MFS Technology (M) Sdn Bhd

100%

HMFS MFS Technology (Hunan) Co Ltd

65%

MFSP MFS Technology (PCB) Co Ltd

65%

MFS Technology Ltd
Listed on the SGX-ST

*The remaining 35% shareholding interests in both MFS (PCB) and HMFS are held by Great Wall Information Industry Co Ltd (“GWI”) (formally 

known as Hunan Computer Co Ltd), a company established in the People’s Republic of China in 1969 and listed on the Shenzhen Stock 

Exchange (stock code: 000748). The directors and substantial shareholders of GWI are not related to our directors and substantial shareholders. 

GWI is mainly engaged in manufacturing of electronic products, development of special IT equipment and software and system integration.

l (H ) C L d MFSP MFS T h l

MFSM MFS Technology (M) Sdn Bhd
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Letter To Shareholders

Dear Shareholders,

Performance Review
The Group recorded a net loss of $13.5 million as revenues 

declined 37% to $136.0 million for the financial year ended 30 

September 2009. Loss per share amounted to 1.9 cents.

It has been yet another highly challenging year for the Group 

as the global economic crisis took its toll on the electronics 

manufacturing sector. Our two operating divisions were not 

spared; coupled with several major end-of-life manufacturing 

programmes the flexible printed circuits (FPC) division 

experienced a 35% drop in sales to $97.5 million while the 

printed circuit boards (PCB) division suffered a 42% fall in 

sales to $38.5 million. The PCB division was particularly 

affected by major clients, especially those in the power 

supply and automotive sectors. 

With both divisions recording losses, the Group posted a 

loss before tax of $15.3 million. After accounting for deferred 

tax liabilities of $1.8 million and minority interests, the Group’s 

net loss totalled $13.5 million. 

The 38% fall in shipments to $71.6 million to our clients in 

the personal communications sector led the decline in FPC 

sales. Higher demand allocation and successful design wins 

in the personal communications market were not sufficient to 

mitigate the overall decline in sales. 

The performance of the FPC division was also negatively 

impacted by the 24% decrease in sales to $6.8 million in the 

display and imaging segment due to lower technology content 

requirements and fewer assembly activities. Contributions 

from customers in the data storage and automotive segment 

were likewise, affected by delayed product qualifications.  

On a positive note, our relentless efforts in pursuing 

customers in the high growth smartphone market have 

borne fruit; the sales contributions from one of our clients 

have risen by more than 54% during this fiscal period as 

compared to a year ago. 

The personal communications segment for the year under 

review contributed 73% to the FPC division’s sales as 

compared to 77% in financial year 2008. Every cloud has a 

silver lining as the saying goes; for us, the silver lining comes in 

the form of other industries where we have managed to grow 

sales. The contribution of $4.3 million from two customers in 

the office automation segment for example, was more than 

double what was achieved the prior year. 

Not all has been doom and gloom in such adverse economic 

times; encouraging signs have emerged especially during 

the fourth quarter or from July to September 2009 whereby 

sales realised amounted to $42.1 million, representing a rise 

of 28% as compared to the third quarter of fiscal 2009. Sales 

in the fourth quarter of the last financial year amounted to 

$59.1 million. 

Moreover, the Group recorded a profit before tax of $0.4 

million for the fourth quarter reversing the loss of $6.2 million 

seen in the third quarter. The improved performance is 

attributed to aggressive cost-cutting measures, higher sales 

and the introduction of new manufacturing programmes. 

Despite the overall negativity in the manufacturing 

environment, a positive cash flow of $6.2 million was 

generated from operating activities. During the year, the sum 

of $5.4 million was invested in capital expenditures. Our 

financial fundamentals remain healthy with cash and cash 

equivalents standing at $33.4 million as at 30 September 

2009.

Strategic & Operational Review
The Group’s key FPC manufacturing facility in China operated 

by subsidiary MFS Technology (Hunan) Co Ltd and based 

in Changsha, has widened its customer base. Specialising 

in high volume flex circuits production and component 

assembly activities, its competitive edge has been further 

strengthened as it now has the expertise and capability to 

undertake FPC design and development, prototyping and 

assembly operations. 
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Letter To Shareholders

Our FPC clients based outside China continue to be serviced 

by MFS Technology (M) Sdn Bhd which is based in Malaysia 

and undertakes high-volume, low-mix production and 

component assembly activities. 

In the PCB sector, all production activities undertaken by 

subsidiary MFS Technology (PCB) Co Ltd in China are now 

conducted at our plant in Xingsha. The old manufacturing 

sites have since been de-commissioned and shut down. 

With PCB production consolidated, we expect to enjoy lower 

operating costs and to position ourselves competitively. 

Outlook
We are well-poised to take on any increase in orders 

competitively with the anticipated recovery in the global 

economic climate. As a result of the Group’s rationalisation 

exercise which has been completed, we can now leverage 

on our low-cost manufacturing sites in China and Malaysia. 

The Group’s corporate headquarters in Singapore will remain 

the technology centre focusing on product development and 

marketing activities.

The market for smartphones has opened up opportunities for 

the Group’s FPC business. Smartphones, generally classified 

as mobile phones equipped with operating system software 

which allow for personal computing-type functionality such 

as web browsing including accessing and sending emails, 

have bucked the downward economic trend – it has been 

reported in the media that smartphone sales have surged 

more than 25% during the second quarter of 2009.

Moreover, while global mobile phone sales were flat in the 

third quarter of 2009, research reports made public suggest 

that smartphone makers have realised higher sales of 

more than 10% during this same period. We believe that 

penetration of smartphones will grow exponentially over the 

next three years. Such data offer much hope for the Group’s 

FPC business. 

Our diversification efforts have borne results during the 

year under review and this process will continue. While the 

personal communications sector will remain our bread-and-

butter business as mobile handset makers are the largest 

customers for FPCs, we will strive to target other industries, 

such as the office automation market, for growth. 

The Group’s FPC order book stood at $40.4 million while 

that for PCB was $4.9 million as at 30 September 2009. 

Deliveries are expected to be completed in the first quarter 

of the 2010 financial year. This total order book of $45.3 

million is the highest achieved for the calendar year and is a 

54% increase from that seen in the third quarter of the 2009 

financial year. Such indications offer optimism for the Group’s 

general business outlook.

Dividends
The Board of Directors did not recommend any dividend for 

the 2009 financial year. 

Appreciation
We offer our heartfelt thanks to all our customers, suppliers, 

business associates and shareholders for their unwavering 

support during such trying times. The directors, management 

and staff will remain committed to maximising shareholder 

value.

Dr Cham Tao Soon  Pang Tak Lim

Chairman   Managing Director
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Board of Directors

Dr Cham Tao Soon Pang Tak Lim

Alexander Chan Meng Wah Lester Wong Hein Jee Dr Lim Huat Seng

Reggie Thein Sin Boon Ann

Dr Cham Tao Soon

Chairman of Board of Directors

Dr Cham Tao Soon was appointed to the Board of Directors 

of our Company on 20 January 2007, appointed Chairman 

from 27 January 2007 and was last re-elected on 21 January 

2008. He is a member of the nominating and remuneration 

committees. He is also a Director of WBL Corporation 

Limited (“WBL”). For over two decades until 2002, he was the 

President of Nanyang Technological University. He is now the 

Chairman of NATSTEEL Ltd and the Singapore Symphonia 

Co Ltd and the Deputy Chairman of Singapore Press Holdings 

Ltd. He serves as a Director at United Overseas Bank Ltd 

and SOUP Restaurant Group Ltd as well as a member of the 

Council of Presidential Advisers. He was conferred a Public 

Administration Medal (P.P.A), and the Distinguished Service 

Order (D.U.B.C.).

Dr Cham holds a BEng(Hons) from the University of 

Malaya, and a Bsc(Hons) from the University of London. He 

obtained his PhD from Cambridge University, UK. He also 

has several honorary degrees which were conferred on him 

by universities. These include the University of Strathclyde, 

the University of Surrey, Loughborough University and Soka 

University. He is a fellow of the Institution of Engineers, 

Singapore; the Institution of Mechanical Engineers, UK and 

the Royal Academy of Engineering, UK.
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Board of Directors

Pang Tak Lim

Managing Director

Pang Tak Lim is our Managing Director. He was appointed 

to the Board of Directors of our Company on 2 August 2001 

and was last re-elected on 21 January 2008. He has been a 

Director of MFSS since January 1995. He has more than 30 

years of experience in the electronics industry, out of which 

25 years were spent in the PCB and related industries. Prior 

to joining Wearnes Technology (Private) Limited in 1990 

as its Operations Manager, Mr Pang was the Operations 

Manager for a year for CTS Corporation, which is involved 

in the manufacture of oscillators and hybrid circuits. He has 

also worked for 2 major PCB plants in Singapore from 1978 

to 1989, namely Motorola Electronics Pte Ltd and Printed 

Circuits International Inc. where he was responsible for both 

companies’ overall manufacturing operations. Mr Pang was 

the General Manager of MFSS from 1993 to 1996 before 

assuming the position of Managing Director in 1997. He is 

also a director of MFSM, MFS-PCB and HMFS. Mr Pang 

holds an honours degree from the University of Singapore, 

majoring in chemistry.

Reggie Thein

Independent Director

He was appointed to the Board of Directors of our Company 

on 2 August 2001 and was last re-elected on 19 January 

2007. Mr Thein is also Chairman of the Audit Committee and 

member of the remuneration committee. He is a Director 

of United Overseas Bank Limited, a Board member and 

Chairman of the Audit Committees of several listed companies 

in Singapore, among them Haw Par Corporation Limited, 

Keppel Telecommunications & Transportation Limited, 

MobileOne Ltd, Guocoland Limited,  Guocoleisure Limited 

formerly BIL International Limited, FJ Benjamin Holdings Ltd 

and Otto Marine Limited. He is also a Director and Chairman 

of the Audit Committee of DLF Trust Management Pte. Ltd., 

and a Director of Energy Support Management Pte Ltd and 

Ascendas Pte Ltd. Mr Thein is a member of the Governing 

Council of the Singapore Institute of Directors, a Fellow of 

the Institute of Chartered Accountants in England and Wales, 

and member of the Institute of Certified Public Accountants 

of Singapore (“ICPAS”). He was previously a Senior Partner 

of PricewaterhouseCoopers, Vice Chairman of Coopers & 

Lybrand, and Managing Partner of its management consulting 

services firm. In 1999, he was awarded the Public Service 

Medal by the President of Singapore.

Sin Boon Ann

Independent Director

Sin Boon Ann is an Independent Director, the Chairman 

of the nominating committee and a member of the audit 

committee. He is currently a Director of Drew & Napier 

LLC. He was appointed to the Board of Directors of our 

Company on 2 August 2001 and was last re-elected on 

21 January 2008. He has been with Drew & Napier LLC 

since 1992. Mr Sin is principally engaged in corporate 

finance and mergers and acquisitions. Prior to joining 

Drew & Napier LLC, Mr Sin taught at the Faculty of Law 

of National University of Singapore from 1987 to 1992. 

He is also a Member of Parliament for Tampines Group 

Representation Constituency (GRC) and a member of the 

Singapore Totalisator Board. Mr Sin received his Bachelor 

of Arts and Bachelor of Laws (Honours) degrees from the 

National University of Singapore and his Master of Laws 

from the University of London.
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Alexander Chan Meng Wah

Independent Director

Alexander Chan Meng Wah is an Independent Director, the 

Chairman of the remuneration committee and a member of 

the nominating committee. He was appointed to the Board 

of Directors of our Company on 2 August 2001 and was 

last re-elected on 23 January 2009. Mr Chan also serves as 

independent director on various public and private companies. 

He is also Chairman of the Singapore Sports Council. He was 

a former Nominated Member of Parliament (NMP) in the 10th 

Singapore Parliament. Mr Chan holds a Bachelor of Electrical 

Engineering (Hons) degree from University of Singapore and 

a Master of Business Administration degree from University 

of California, Los Angeles. Mr Chan was awarded the Public 

Service Medal by the President of Singapore in 2007. 

Lester Wong Hein Jee

Lester Wong Hein Jee is a non-executive and non-

independent Director and is a member of the audit 

committee. He was appointed to the Board of Directors of 

our Company on 18 July 2003 and was last re-elected on 

23 January 2009. He is currently the Chief Financial Officer 

of Tat Hong Limited. Prior to joining Tat Hong Mr Wong 

was the Chief Financial Officer of WBL. Mr Wong spent 

4 years in Coopers & Lybrand (“C&L”), a legacy firm of 

PricewaterhouseCoopers, first as a senior auditor in C&L’s 

Los Angeles office between 1988 and 1990 and then as a 

senior consultant in C&L’s management consulting services 

firm in Singapore between 1992 and 1994. He holds a MBA 

degree from the University of Chicago and is a member of 

the ICPAS.

Dr Lim Huat Seng

Dr Lim Huat Seng was appointed as a Non-Executive and 

Non-Independent Director of the Company on 7 October 

2009. He was previously a director of NASDAQ-listed Multi-

Fineline Electronix, Inc. Dr. Lim holds a B.E.E. from the 

University of Queensland and a Ph.D. in Computer Science 

from the University of London. He was a Colombo Plan and 

British Commonwealth scholar. 

Dr. Lim is the Group Managing Director (Technology Division) 

of WBL Corporation Limited, where he is responsible for the 

overall management of the technology businesses which 

includes Precision Engineering and Electronic Manufacturing 

Services.  Prior to joining WBL in 2001, he spent over 20 

years first in the IT industry and then in the EMS industry.  His 

previous working experience includes senior management 

positions in Compaq Computer Corporation and Packard 

Bell NEC Inc. 

Board of Directors
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Key Executives

The day-to-day operations of our Group are entrusted to our Managing Director who is assisted by our team of Executive 

Officers.

Information on the business and working experience of our Executive Officers is set out below:-

Peter Tan Chief Financial Officer

Mr Tan is responsible for the financial, accounting, and 

administrative functions of our Group. Mr Tan is a Certified 

Public Accountant with experience in commercial and 

corporate consulting, relating mainly to statutory compliance, 

listing requirements, financial reporting and corporate 

restructuring, in Australia, Singapore and Indonesia. Prior to 

joining our Company in March 2001, he was the Financial 

Controller of OCBC Wearnes & Walden (Singapore) Pte Ltd 

from June 2000 to February 2001 and the Chief Financial 

Officer of Pacific Silica Pty Ltd from March 1998 to May 2000. 

Mr Tan holds a Bachelor of Commerce degree majoring in 

Accounting and Management from the University of Western 

Australia. He is a member of the CPA (Australia), Australian 

Institute of Management and ICPAS.

Choo Teck Leong Group General Manager, FPC Division

Mr Choo has more than 26 years of experience in the field of 

manufacturing, especially in chemical processing industries. 

Prior to joining our Group in August 1989 as a Production 

Manager, he worked for Texas Instrument Corporation from 

1978 to 1979 as a Process Engineer, Degussa Electronics 

Pte Ltd, a PCB manufacturer from 1980 to 1984 as Chemical 

Engineer, Albright and Wilson Asia Trading Pte Ltd, a company 

engaged in trading of specialty chemicals, from 1984 to 1987 

as Technical Sales Executive and Motorola Electronics Pte 

Ltd from 1987 to 1989 as Engineering Group Leader. He is 

currently responsible for the overall manufacturing operations 

of the 3 FPC plants in Singapore, Malaysia and China. He 

played a key role in the setting up of the Malacca plant and 

is also responsible for providing engineering support to the 

Malacca facility. He holds a chemical engineering degree 

from the University of Singapore.

Tan Kheng Wah General Manager, Business Support Group

Mr Tan is in charge of the sales and marketing teams 

responsible for overall business support. This includes 

the management of transition of new projects into mass 

production, schedules management and overall marketing 

risk management. Prior to joining our Group in January 

1991 as a Sales Executive, he was a Senior Officer 

responsible for material planning and control in CTS 

Singapore Pte Ltd from 1988 to 1990 and Production 

Supervisor for PCB manufacturing in Motorola Electronics 

Pte Ltd from 1986 to 1988, both of which are key players 

in the local PCB and related industries. He joined our 

Group as a Sales Executive in 1991 and was promoted 

to Program Manager in 1994. As Program Manager, his 

job scope was widened to include application engineering 

and management of prototype samples. In January 2000, 

Mr Tan was promoted to his current position. He holds a 

diploma in mechanical engineering and a graduate diploma 

in business administration from the Singapore Institute of 

Management.

Gilbert Rodrigues Business Development Director

Mr Rodrigues is in charge of the marketing and business 

development teams. He is responsible for the identification 

and development of new businesses. He joined the Group in 

May 1991 as a Materials Control Executive and was promoted 

to Assistant Quality Assurance Manager in 1993. He was 

promoted to Program Manager in the sales and marketing 

department in 1994. In January 2000 he was promoted to 

his current position. Prior to joining the group he worked 

in Motorola Electronics Pte Ltd and Matsushita Electronics 

Singapore Pte. Ltd.  He holds a Bachelor of Science from the 

University of Louisiana.
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Key Executives

Lee Fang Wen Business Development Director

Mr Lee rejoined MFS in 2007 after a hiatus in 2006 

subsequent to his overseas assignment in Shanghai where 

he was involved in the set-up of MFS’ Shanghai office and 

held the position of Business Development Director from 

2002 to 2005. He has more than 15 years of experience 

in process engineering, procurement, sales and marketing 

in the PCB industry. Mr Lee joined MFSS as a Process 

Engineer from 1990 to 1992. Prior to rejoining our Group 

in October 1994 as a Program Manager, he was working 

in Compaq Asia as a Procurement Engineer from 1992 

to 1994, and Motorola Electronics Pte Ltd as a Process 

Engineer from 1987 to 1990. He was promoted as Deputy 

General Manager of MFSM in 1991 and was responsible for 

the production, materials, and engineering and maintenance 

functions in MFSM until his overseas posting in Shanghai 

in 2002. He graduated with a Bachelor of Chemical 

Engineering degree from the University of Singapore.

Li Xiaoming General Manager of HMFS and MFS–PCB

Mr Li has 18 years of experience in PCB manufacturing. Prior 

to joining MFS-PCB in February 1990, he worked in Hunan 

Long Island Circuits Company Limited as an engineering 

manager for 3 years. The company was principally engaged in 

the manufacture of PCBs. He was appointed as Vice General 

Manager of MFS-PCB in 1994 and was promoted to General 

Manager in 1997. In 2004 he was appointed as the General 

Manager of HMFS. Mr Li holds a Bachelor of Chemistry from 

the University of Technology, Changchun, PRC.

Ronnie Chin Quality Director 

Mr Chin assumed his current position of Quality Director in 

February 2009. He joined the Group in August 1993 as our 

Process and Development Engineer and was promoted to 

Process and Development Engineering Manager in February 

1999. He became R&D Manager in July 2000 when an 

independent R&D department was spun off from the Process 

Engineering department. Prior to joining our Group, he worked 

as a Research Assistant for 3 years in the National University 

of Singapore conducting biomedical engineering research, in 

collaboration with the National University Hospital. He was 

instrumental in developing several new processes for FPC 

manufacturing and the setting up of an automated assembly 

department for MFSS. He was promoted to Technical Director 

in December 2004. Mr Chin holds a mechanical engineering 

degree from the National University of Singapore.

Chen Chee Ming General Manager, MFSM

Mr Chen was promoted to his current position of General 

Manager (Manufacturing) of MFSM in April 2002. Mr Chen 

is responsible for the production, materials, engineering and 

maintenance functions in MFSM. Prior to joining our group 

in May 2000 as Production & Material Control Manager, he 

worked as a Production Manager in KESM Industry, Malaysia, 

a member of Sunright Group and Production Manager for 

liquid crystal display manufacturing in Vikay Technology (M) 

Sdn Bhd from 1988 to 1999, responsible for production, 

materials and process engineering functions.  He holds a 

diploma in general management from the Malaysia Institute 

of Management.

Chng Say Tiong General Manager, MFSS 

Mr Chng started his career as a process engineer in May 

1986 with Motorola PCB factory in Singapore. During the 

12 years in Motorola PCB, Chng has experience working 

in various different functions in Process Engineering, 

Manufacturing and Quality Assurance. In August 1998, 

Chng worked for Wus Printed Circuits, a Taiwanese PCB 

company as a Vice President of Operations. Chng joined 

MFSS in November 2001 as operations manager for flex 

manufacturing. Mr Chng has worked in operations covering 

equipment/facility maintenance, process engineering, 

manufacturing, materials and quality assurance. Mr Chng 

was promoted to his current position of General Manager 

in October 2009. Mr Chng holds a Bachelor of Chemical 

Engineering from the National University of Singapore.

major customers or major suppliers pursuant to which such person was appointed as our Director or Executive Officer, as the case may be.
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MFS Technology is committed to conducting its business activities in a 

responsible manner with the objective of preserving the environment for all 

humanity and for our next generation.

ENVIRONMENTAL POLICY
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Operations Review

The Group’s performance for the financial year ended 30 

September 2009 was affected by the global financial crisis. 

Sales in FY 2009 declined by 37% to $136 million from $217 

million compared to a year ago due mainly to lower demand 

from our main customers and partially a result of the end-

of-life of several major existing programs. The FPC Division 

declined by 35% to $97.5 million and PCB Division declined 

by 42% to $38.5 million.

Despite very difficult economic conditions, the group was 

able to achieve quarterly improvement in sales in the last 

three quarters. The group registered sales of $42.1 million in 

the fourth quarter compared to $59.1 million a year ago.

The decline in sales in the FPC Division was led by personal 

communication (“PC”) followed by the display and imaging 

segments (“DYI”), the two major segments of the FPC 

Division. Shipments for the PC segment were lower by 38% 

compared to a year ago at $71.6 million. This was primarily 

due to lower sales to our major customers although we were 

able to secure higher allocation in demand from the same 

customer in this regard. 

Our efforts to diversify into high growth segments such as 

the smartphone market are beginning to bear fruit. Sales 

contribution from one of the new targeted customers in 

this segment surpassed sales reported in FY2008 by more 

than 54%.

In the DYI segment, turnover fell by 24% compared to a year 

ago to $6.8 million. This was mainly due to lower assembly 

and technology contents. 

We have also recorded some success in penetrating into 

other business segments. Revenue generated from the two 

other target customers in the office automation segment was 

$4.3 million, more than double compared to a year ago. We 

believe the contribution from this segment will continue to 

grow in the new financial year. 

Lower demand and delayed product qualifications from the 

data storage and automotive segments have also affected 

our sales performance and factory utilisation in FY2009.

Our PCB business was also hit by the global downturn. The 

PCB Division reported a 42% decline in sales to $38.5 million 

due mainly to sluggish demands from our main customers, 

particularly in the power supply and automotive segments. 

However, we are seeing improvement in the demand in the 

last quarter.

In the fourth quarter, the Group made a profit before tax of 

$0.4 million, an improvement from the third quarter loss of 

$6.2 million before tax, due mainly to aggressive cost cutting 

measures, higher sales and introduction of new programs.

For the financial year ended 30 September 2009, the Group 

incurred operating loss before tax of $15.3 million due mainly 

to lower sales. After write back in deferred tax liabilities of 

$1.8 million, the Group’s loss after tax was $13.5 million.

Due to low sales and low utilisation, both our FPC and PCB 

Divisions reported a loss at the gross margin level. 

Other operating income was lower by $1 million compared to 

a year ago at $3.9 million due to lower production activities. 

In tandem with the reduced sales, the Group’s distribution 

expenses were lower by $1.7 million to $4.4 million in 

FY2009. Reduction in staff costs, commission payable as 

well as lower freight and handling charges contributed to the 

decline.
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Operations Review

Administrative expenses decreased by $2.6 million to $9 

million mainly due to smaller foreign exchange losses aided 

by reduction in staff related expenses and professional fees. 

Despite a very difficult operating environment, the Group 

continued to generate positive operating cash flow of $6.2 

million with no borrowing. Net cash used in financing activities 

of $10 million comprised of a $3.2 million dividend payment, 

the repayment of short-term bank loan of $5.3 million and 

the purchase of treasury shares of $1.2 million. The Group’s 

cash balance as at 30 September 2009 was $33.3 million 

compared to $42.4 million as at 30 September 2008. 

The Group invested in the upgrading of capability and 

capacity in areas where we can enhance our competitive 

advantage and improve our cost in the long run. The total 

investment in plant and machinery was $5.3 million, of which 

$0.3 million was for improvement of capability and yield, $1.2 

million was for the increase in assembly capacity for a new 

customer, $1.8 million was for expansion and consolidation 

of our PCB facility to improve our efficiency and $2.0 million 

was for the installation of SMT requirement in MFSM for an 

existing main customer.

Business Outlook

A partial recovery of the global economy and the return of 

consumer confidence is the key to an improvement from 

4Q FY2009. The directors remain cautiously optimistic if 

similar trend can be sustained in FY2010. However, a further 

recession is still a possibility and could result in another 

slowdown in business activities.

If the Group is successful in the high growth, smartphones 

segment it will be able to achieve a significant impact on its 

performance of its FPC division in FY2010. 

In the face of intense competition and compressed 

margins in the FPC division, the Group has undertaken 

major restructuring initiatives to leverage on its low 

cost manufacturing sites both in China and Malaysia to 

reduce its operating costs. China’s facility specialises in 

high volume production of flex circuits and component 

assembly; whereas Malaysia will cater to major customers’ 

requirements outside of China. Singapore will remain as 

the group’s corporate office, marketing and business 

development, product development and technology 

centre.

The consolidation of the PCB division has been completed 

and we believe this exercise will continue to help our China 

operations to work its cost down and enhance its competitive 

position for the tougher year ahead.

As at 30 September 2009, the Group’s backlog orders for 

FPC amounted to S$40.4 million, while our PCB backlog 

orders were S$4.9 million. Most of these backlog orders 

are for delivery within the following three months. With the 

improvement in bookings, the total backlog of $45.3 million 

was the highest recorded for FY2009 or about 54% increase 

from 3Q FY2009.
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CHINA Facilities Expansion

HMFS

The FPC plant in Xingsha Hunan 

Province (on extreme left) is now 

fully integrated with the component 

assembly operations (middle).

MFSP

Consolidation of the PCB operations (third 

building on the right) has been completed. 

With the extension to increase production 

capacity by approximately 30% or up to 

360,000 square feet. PCB business will 

benefit from the consolidation due to better 

efficiency and capacity utilisation.
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Financial Highlights

Turnover (S$million)

Total Assets (S$million)

Attributable Profi t (S$million)

Shareholder’s Equity (S$million)

Basic Earnings Per Share (cents)

S$136m

S$181.2m

(S$12.7m)

S$125.1m

(S$1.9¢)

2009 2009 2009

136.0

217.0

320.0

383.4
379.5

2008 2008 20082007 2007 20072006 2006 20062005 2005 2005

(12.7) (10.1)

8.0

29.3

34.4

2009 2009

181.2
218.0

236.0

284.0
298.8

2008 20082007 20072006 20062005 2005

125.1
142.4

158.9 158.0
164.3

(1.9)
(1.5)

1.2

4.5
5.3
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“Green Partners”.

CERT NO.: 96-2-0548
ISO 9001 : 2008
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Guideline or Principle Page Compliance

Principle 1 - Board’s conduct of its affairs 17 √

Principle 2 - Board composition and guidance 19 √

Principle 3 - Chairman and Managing Director 19 √

Principle 4 - Board membership 19 √

Principle 5 - Board performance 20 √

Principle 6 - Access to information 20 √

Principle 7 - Procedures for developing remuneration policies 21 √

Principle 8 - Level and mix of remuneration 21 √

Principle 9 - Disclosure of remuneration paid to directors and key executives 22 √

Principle 10 - Accountability 23 √

Principle 11 - Audit committee 23 √

Principle 12 - Internal controls 24 √

Principle 13 - Internal audit 24 √

Principle 14 - Communication with shareholders 25 √

Principle 15 - Greater shareholder participation 25 √

The Directors and Management of MFS Technology Ltd (the “Company”) are committed to high standards of corporate 

governance and have adopted the principles set out in the Code of Corporate Governance (the “Code”) which forms part of 

the Continuing Obligations of the Listing Manual of the Singapore Exchange Securities Trading Limited’s (“SGX-ST”). Where 

there are deviations from the Code, appropriate explanations are provided.  

THE BOARD’S CONDUCT OF AFFAIRS
Principle 1 

The principal functions of the Board are:

1) providing entrepreneurial leadership and approving board policies, corporate strategies, key operational initiatives, fi nancial 

objectives of the Group and monitoring the performance of Management;

2) overseeing the processes for evaluating the adequacy of internal controls, risk management, fi nancial reporting and 

compliance;

3) ensuring the Group’s compliance with laws, regulations, policies, directives, guidelines and internal code of conduct;

4) approving the nomination of directors and appointment of key personnel;

5) approving annual budgets, major funding, investments and divestment proposals; 

6) approving the remuneration packages for the Board and key executives;

7) ensuring accurate, adequate and timely reporting to, and communication with shareholders; and

8) assuming the role for the satisfactory fulfi lment of social responsibilities of the Group.

Corporate Governance Report
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Certain functions have been delegated by the Board to three main Sub-Committees (Audit, Nominating and Remuneration 

Committees), which operate under clearly defi ned terms of reference. The Chairman of the respective Committees reports the 

outcome of Committee meetings to the Board. The background of each Director is set out on pages 4 to 6. 

Matters that are specifi cally reserved for the full Board to decide are those involving a confl ict of interest for a substantial 

shareholder or a director, material acquisitions and disposal of assets, corporate or fi nancial restructuring and share issuances, 

dividends and other returns to shareholders and matters that require Board approval.

The Board conducts scheduled meetings on a quarterly basis. Ad-hoc meetings are convened when circumstances require.

The attendance of the directors at meetings of the Board and Board committees for FY2009 is as follows:

Name of 

Directors
Board

Audit

Committee (“AC”)

Remuneration

Committee (“RC”)

Nominating

Committee (“NC”)

No. of

meetings

Attendance No. of

meetings

Attendance No. of

meetings

Attendance No. of

meetings

Attendance

Dr Cham Tao Soon

Pang Tak Lim

Reggie Thein

Alexander Chan

Sin Boon Ann

Lester Wong

Dr Lim Huat Seng*

4

4

4

4

4

4

N/A

4

4

4

3

3

4

N/A

N/A

N/A

5

N/A

5

5

N/A

N/A

N/A

5

N/A

5

5

N/A

2

N/A

2

2

N/A

N/A

N/A

2

N/A

2

2

N/A

N/A

N/A

2

N/A

N/A

2

2

N/A

N/A

2

N/A

N/A

2

2

N/A

N/A

to his appointment.

Upon joining the Board, all directors are provided with an orientation to familiarise them with the Group’s business, operations 

and the relevant regulations and governance requirements.

The Company adopts a policy whereby Directors are encouraged to request further explanation, briefi ngs or informal discussion 

on any aspect of the Group’s operations or business issues from Management. The directors are also briefed on new updates 

in the requirements of the SGX-ST, Companies Act or other regulations/statutory requirements from time to time. The Directors 

have open invitations to visit and have visited the Group’s operating facilities to enable them to obtain a better perspective of 

the business and to enhance their understanding of the Group’s operations.

Corporate Governance Report
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BOARD COMPOSITION AND GUIDANCE

The current Board comprises seven Directors, six of whom are non-executive directors. In compliance with the requirements of 

the Code, three of the seven Directors are independent. Mr Pang Tak Lim, the Managing Director is the only executive Director. 

The Directors are professionals in the fi eld of accounting, engineering, fi nance, information technology and law. Together, they 

bring a wide range of expertise, technical skills and relevant experience to the Group. There is suffi cient independent element 

on the Board. This is to ensure that there is effective representation for shareholders and issues of strategy, performance and 

resources are fully discussed and examined to take into account long-term interest of shareholders, employees, customers, 

suppliers and the many industries in which the Group conducts its business.

CHAIRMAN AND MANAGING DIRECTOR
Principle 3 

The roles of the Chairman and Managing Director are separate and the positions are held by separate persons who are not 

related. There is a division of responsibility between the Chairman and the Managing Director. The Chairman bears responsibility 

for the workings of the board of directors, the governance process of the board of directors, scheduling board meetings and 

setting the board meeting agenda in consultation with the Managing Director. The Chairman reviews most board papers 

before they are presented to the board of directors and ensures that board members are provided with adequate and timely 

information.

The Managing Director is the most senior executive in the Group and is responsible for strategic goals and day-to-day 

management of the Group.  

BOARD MEMBERSHIP
Principle 4

The Nominating Committee (“NC”) comprises three directors, namely, Mr Sin Boon Ann, Mr Alexander Chan Meng Wah and Dr 

Cham Tao Soon. Mr Sin Boon Ann (Chairman of the NC) and Mr Alexander Chan Meng Wah are independent directors.  

The scope and responsibilities of the NC include:-

1) identifying, reviewing and recommending candidates for nominations for appointments and reappointments of Directors, 

senior executive staff and the members of the various committees;

2) reviewing the Board structure, size and composition and making recommendations to the Board with regard to any 

adjustments that are deemed necessary;

3) reviewing the strength and assessing the effectiveness of the Board as a whole;

4) determining on an annual basis the independent status of Directors;

5) making recommendations to the Board for the continuation (or otherwise) in services of any Director who has reached the 

age of seventy;

6) deciding whether or not a director is able to and has been adequately carrying out his duties as a director of the Company, 

particularly when he has multiple board representations; and

7) overseeing the management, development and succession planning of the Group.
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The NC considered and recommended the appointment of Dr Lim Huat Seng to the Board as a non-executive director. The 

Board accepted the NC’s recommendation and Dr Lim Huat Seng’s appointment took effect on 7 October 2009. 

The NC assessed and recommended to the Board, the Directors to be re-appointed pursuant to Section 153(6) of the 

Companies Act, Cap.50 and, re-elected pursuant to Articles 96 and 100 of the Company’s Articles of Association at the 

Annual General Meeting.

The NC determines the independence of Directors annually in accordance with the guidelines set out in the Code and is of the 

opinion that the Board is able to exercise objective judgment on corporate affairs independently and that the Board’s decision-

making process is not dominated by any individual or small group of individuals. The NC considers that the multiple board 

representations held presently by the directors do not impede their performance in carrying out their duties to the Company.

BOARD PERFORMANCE
Principle 5 

The NC is of the view that the current Board comprises persons whose diverse skills, experience and attributes match the 

demands facing the Group. The NC is also of the view that the current Board size of seven is appropriate, taking into account 

the nature and scope of the Company’s operations. In evaluating the performance of the Board, the NC implements a self-

assessment process that requires each director to submit the assessment based on the performance of the Board during 

the year under review. This self-assessment process takes into consideration, inter alia, board composition, maintenance 

of independence, board information, board process, board accountability, and communication with top management and 

standard of conduct. The NC also considers other performance criteria as set out in the Code, including the performance of 

the Company. The NC is not convinced that the Board needs to go into peer evaluation in 2009.

ACCESS TO INFORMATION
Principle 6

Management will provide all Directors with Board/Board Committee reports prior to the respective meetings. As a general rule, 

papers on specifi c subjects are sent to the Board in advance and are issued, where possible, in a timely manner to enable the 

Directors to obtain further explanations where necessary so that they are adequately informed prior to the meetings. Amongst 

others, the report provides information on the Company’s performance, fi nancial position and prospects.   

Monthly management reports are available to all Directors, and they meet at least quarterly for updates on the performance of the 

Company. The Directors are encouraged to attend management meetings to have open discussions with senior managers. 

The Company Secretaries attend all Board and Board Committee meetings. They are responsible for ensuring that procedures 

are followed and that the Company has complied with the requirements of the Companies Act and all other rules and regulations 

that are applicable to the Company. Directors have independent access to the Company Secretaries at all times. 

Corporate Governance Report
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PROCEDURES FOR DEVELOPING REMUNERATION 

POLICIES LEVEL AND MIX OF REMUNERATION
Principle 7 and 8

The Remuneration Committee (“RC”) comprises three members, namely Mr Alexander Chan Meng Wah, Mr Reggie Thein and 
Dr Cham Tao Soon. Mr Alexander Chan Meng Wah (Chairman of the RC) and Mr Reggie Thein are independent directors. The 
RC’s responsibilities include:
1) recommending a framework of executive remuneration for the Board and key executives;
2) reviewing and recommending to the Board the remuneration packages and terms of employment of the MD and senior 

executives of the Group; and
3) administering and recommending to the Board the share grant under the new MFS Share Appreciation Rights Plan (“SAR”) 

and the MFS Performance Share Plan (“PSP”).

The RC administers the MFS Scheme, which was established on 28 December 2001 in accordance with the rules as approved 
by the shareholders. Details of the MFS Scheme are set out on page 30 of the Annual Report.

The RC engaged external compensation consultant to review, design and recommend a longer term incentive program. The 
recommendation was for the termination of further option grants and to replace it with a Share Appreciation Right (“SAR”) 
and a Performance related Share Plan (“PSP”). The proposal for the SAR and PSP has been established and approval for its 
implementation was obtained from shareholders at the extraordinary general meeting held on 30 July 2008.

There is a formal and transparent procedure for fi xing the remuneration packages of individual directors. No director is involved 
in deciding his own remuneration. In addition to the RC’s responsibilities as stated above, the RC is also responsible for 
reviewing and recommending to the Board, the remuneration packages for all directors, taking into account the current market 
circumstances and the need to attract directors of experience and good standing.

As part of its review, the RC will cover all aspects of remuneration including but not limited to directors’ fees, salaries, allowances, 
bonuses, shares and benefi ts-in-kind.

The RC and the Board are of the view that the remuneration of the Directors is adequate but not excessive in order to attract, 
retain and motivate them to run the Company successfully.  

Non-executive directors including the Chairman have no service contracts. The MD’s contract has been renewed for three years 
commencing from 1 October 2008 to 30 September 2010. His service contract contains non-competition and non-solicitation 
clauses, which are binding on him for a period of 12 months after the cessation of his employment with the Company.

The performance-related elements of the MD’s remuneration form a signifi cant portion of his FY2009 package. The MD’s 
remuneration package includes a variable bonus element, which is performance-related and shares, which have been designed 
to align his interests with those of the shareholders. It also includes a discretionary bonus over and above the performance 
bonus to be determined by the RC and recommended to the Board.

The RC continued to engage external compensation consultant to review long term incentive programs and revised targets for 
one-year period for the SAR and a three-year period for the PSP.

As at 30 September 2009, no grant under the Company’s SAR and PSP has been made.
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DISCLOSURE OF REMUNERATION PAID TO DIRECTORS AND KEY EXECUTIVES
Principle 9

A breakdown showing the level and mix of each individual director’s remuneration payable for FY2009 is as follows:

Remuneration Band & 

Name of Directors*
Fees** (%) Salary*** (%) Bonus*** (%)

Other

Benefi ts* (%)
Total (%)

S$750,000 to $1,000,000

Nil
- - - - -

S$500,000 to S$749,999

Pang Tak Lim
- 69 26 5 100

S$250,000 to S$499,999

Nil
- - - - -

Below S$250,000

Dr Cham Tao Soon 

Reggie Thein

Alexander Chan Meng Wah  

Sin Boon Ann

Lester Wong Hein Jee

100

100

100

100

100

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

100

100

100

100

100

*** the salary and bonus are inclusive of allowances and Central Provident Fund (“CPF”).

The RC ensures that the remuneration package of employees related to executive directors and controlling shareholders of the 
Group are in line with the Group’s staff remuneration guidelines and commensurate with their respective job scope and level 
of responsibilities. The aim of the RC is to motivate and retain such executives and ensure that the Group is able to attract the 
best talent in the market in order to maximise shareholders’ value.

The table below shows the range of gross remuneration of the top fi ve executives (executives who are not directors) in bands 
of $250,000:

Number of Key Executives of the Group in the remuneration band 2009 2008

$500,000 & above - -

$250,000 to $499,999 2 2

Below $250,000 3 3

The Company does not have employees who are immediate family members of a director or the MD.
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ACCOUNTABILITY

Principle 10

The results and other relevant information on the Company, are disseminated via SGXNET and are also available on the 

Company’s website at www.mfstech.com.sg that are linked to both the English and Chinese contents of our investor 

relations.

In presenting the periodic announcement of the results, the Board aims to provide shareholders with a balanced and 

comprehensible assessment of the Group’s performance, positions and prospects on a quarterly basis.   

To enable the Board to fulfi ll its responsibilities, monthly management reports are made available to all the Directors that include 

updates on the performance of the Company and all its subsidiaries. The Management is accountable to the Board and the 

Board is accountable to shareholders. 

AUDIT COMMITTEE

Principle 11

The Audit Committee (“AC”) comprises three members, namely Mr Reggie Thein, Mr Sin Boon Ann and Mr Lester Wong Hein 

Jee. Mr Reggie Thein (Chairman of the AC) and Mr Sin Boon Ann are independent directors. 

The AC meets regularly to perform the following functions:

1)  recommending to the Board of Directors the external auditors to be nominated, and approving the compensation of the 

external auditors. It also reviews the scope and results of the audit, its cost-effectiveness, and the independence and 

objectivity of the external auditors;

2)  reviewing with the internal auditors, external auditors and Management, the signifi cant risks or exposures that exist and the 

steps Management have taken to manage such risks to the Company;

3)  reviewing with the Chief Financial Offi cer, external and internal auditors at the completion of the full year fi nancial results and 

audit issues of the group:

a)  any signifi cant fi ndings and recommendations of the internal and external auditors together with Management’s responses 

thereto;

b)  the external and internal auditors’ evaluation of the system of internal controls;

c)  the external and internal auditors’ reports;

d)  the assistance given by Management and the staff of the Company to the external and internal auditors, including any 

concerns encountered during the course of audit;

e)  interested person transactions (“IPTs”) falling within the scope of Chapter 9 of the Listing Manual;

4)  reviewing quarterly and full year fi nancial statements for submission to the Board for its approval; 

5)  considering legal and regulatory matters that may have a material impact on the fi nancial statements, related exchange 

compliance policies and reports received from regulators. 
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Minutes of the AC meetings are submitted to the Board for its information and review. To create an environment for open 

discussion on audit matters, the AC meets with the external and internal auditors, without the presence of Management, at 

least once a year.

The AC had reviewed all non-audit services provided by PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP and is of the view that fees for non-audit 

services provided are immaterial and would not affect the independence of the external auditors. 

INTERNAL CONTROLS and INTERNAL AUDIT 

In performing its functions, the AC:

a)  had outsourced its internal audit function to Ernst & Young (“EY”) in compliance with the requirement of the Public 

Accountants Board Rules. 

b)  had full access to and assistance of the Management and the discretion to invite any director and executive offi cer to attend 

its meetings;

c)  had been given reasonable resources to enable it to discharge its functions properly; and

d)  had the express powers to conduct or authorise investigation into any matters within its terms of reference.

The scope of the internal auditors is to:

a) review the effectiveness of the internal controls of the Company and its subsidiaries;

b) provide assurance that key business issues and operational weaknesses are identifi ed and managed;

c) ensure internal controls are in place and functioning as intended; and 

d) ascertain if operations are conducted in an effective and effi cient manner.

The internal auditors report primarily to the AC Chairman on audit matters and to the Managing Director (“MD”)/Management 

on administrative matters. 

Based on the internal and management controls in place, the AC believes that there are adequate internal controls in MFS.

An Enterprise-wide Risk Management (“ERM”) committee chaired by the MD based on the framework approved by the Board 

was formed in January 2004. Sub-committees were constituted for key business risks identifi ed. Regular workshops for the 

senior managers were conducted for all the operating subsidiaries and in the course of these workshops and ongoing projects, 

updates were communicated to the AC and the Board on a quarterly basis. The AC is satisfi ed that the counter-measures and 

on going projects for those key risks identifi ed are adequate.
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WHISTLE-BLOWING POLICY

Management has put in place a whistle-blowing policy, whereby employees may, in confi dence, raise concerns about possible 

improprieties on matters of fi nancial reporting or other matters. The objective for such arrangement is to ensure independent 

investigation of such matters and for appropriate follow-up action.

COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS 
GREATER SHAREHOLDER PARTICIPATION
Principle 14 and 15

Major developments on the Company and its business operations are communicated to shareholders via SGXNET and are 

also available on the Company’s website at www.mfstech.com.sg that are linked to both the English and Chinese contents 

of our investor relations. The Company also holds analysts briefi ng in conjunction with the release of its half-year and full-year 

results. The Company does not practise selective disclosure. Price sensitive information is fi rst publicly released before the 

Company meets with any group of investors or analysts.

Quarterly and annual results are released on SGXNET within the mandatory period. 

All shareholders of the Company will receive the Annual Report of the Company and notice of AGM within the mandatory 

period. The notice of AGM is also advertised in a prominent newspaper. The Articles of the Company permit a shareholder to 

appoint one or two proxies to attend and vote in his stead. The Company has not amended its Articles to provide for absentee 

voting methods, which call for elaborate and costly implementation of a foolproof system, the need for which does not arise 

presently.

Each item of special business included in the notice of the general meetings is accompanied, where appropriate, by an 

explanation for the proposed resolution. Separate resolutions are proposed for each separate issue at the meeting.

The Chairmen of the board committees are present and available to address questions relating to the work of their respective 

board committees at general meetings. Shareholders are given the opportunity to air their views and ask Directors, Management 

and External auditors questions regarding the Company.

DEALINGS IN SECURITIES

The Company has adopted a Code of Best Practices on Securities Transactions that is in line with the best practices on 

dealings in securities issued by the SGX-ST. All directors and offi cers of the Company who have access to “price sensitive” 

information are required to observe this code. The directors and these offi cers are also prohibited from dealing in the securities 

of the Company during the period commencing two weeks before the announcement of the quarterly fi nancial results or one 

month before the announcement of the fi nancial statements of the fi nancial year, as the case may be, and ending on the dates 

of the announcement of the relevant results.
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Effective from 23 March 2005, all senior managers of the Company are required to notify their dealings in MFS shares within 

two market days of transaction.

CODE OF BUSINESS ETHICS

The Group has adopted a Code of Business Ethics to regulate the standards and ethical conduct of the Group’s employees 

who are required to observe and maintain high standards of integrity. Senior executives are required to confi rm their compliance 

annually. 

INTERESTED PERSON TRANSACTIONS (“IPTs”)

The Company has adopted an internal policy in respect of any transaction with interested person and has set out the procedures 

for review and approval of the Company’s IPTs. The aggregate values of the transactions conducted during the fi nancial year 

are as follows:

Nature and name of interested person

Aggregate value of all 

interested person transactions 

during the fi nancial year under 

review (excluding transactions 

less than $100,000 and 

transactions conducted 

under shareholders’ mandate 

pursuant to Rule 920)

Aggregate value of 

all interested person 

transactions conducted 

under shareholders’ mandate 

pursuant to Rule 920 

(excluding transactions less 

than $100,000)

S’000 S’000

Sales to Multi-Fineline Electronix. Inc. (“MFI”) Nil 7,592

Purchase of inventories from MFI Nil 1,146

Management fees charged by Wearnes Brother Services 

(Private) Ltd
Nil 180

MATERIAL CONTRACTS

No material contract involving the interests of any director or controlling shareholder of the Company has been entered into by 

the Company or any of its subsidiary companies since the end of the previous fi nancial year and no such contract subsisted 

at the end of the fi nancial year.
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT
For the financial year ended 30 September 2009

The directors present their report to the members together with the audited financial statements of the Group for the financial 

year ended 30 September 2009 and the balance sheet of the Company as at 30 September 2009.

Directors

The directors of the Company in office at the date of this report are as follows:

Dr. Cham Tao Soon

Pang Tak Lim

Reggie Thein

Lester Wong Hein Jee

Alexander Chan Meng Wah

Sin Boon Ann

Dr. Lim Huat Seng   (appointed on 7 October 2009)

Mr. Pang Tak Lim and Mr. Reggie Thein retire by rotation in accordance with Article 96 of the Company’s Article of Association 

and, being eligible, offer themselves for re-election.

Dr. Lim Huat Seng retires in accordance with Article 100 of the Company’s Article of Association and, being eligible, offers 

himself for re-election.

Arrangements to enable directors to acquire shares and debentures

Neither at the end of nor at any time during the financial year was the Company a party to any arrangement whose object 

was to enable the directors of the Company to acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of shares in, or debentures of, the 

Company or any other body corporate, other than as disclosed under “Share options” on pages 30 to 32 of this report.

Directors’ interests in shares or debentures

(a) According to the register of directors’ shareholdings, none of the directors holding office at the end of the financial year 

had any interest in the shares or debentures of the Company or its related corporations, except as follows:

Holdings registered in name

of director or nominee

Holdings in which director

is deemed to have an interest

At

30.09.2009

At

1.10.2008

At

30.09.2009

At

1.10.2008

The Company

(No. of ordinary shares)

Pang Tak Lim 8,113,500 8,113,500 - -

Reggie Thein - - 75,000 75,000
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Directors’ interests in shares or debentures (continued)

(a) According to the register of directors’ shareholdings, none of the directors holding office at the end of the financial year 

had any interest in the shares or debentures of the Company or its related corporations, except as follows: (continued)

Holdings registered in name

of director or nominee

Holdings in which director

is deemed to have an interest

At

30.09.2009

At

1.10.2008

At

30.09.2009

At

1.10.2008

The Company

(No. of ordinary shares)

Lester Wong Hein Jee 750,000 750,000 - -

Alexander Chan Meng Wah 75,000 75,000 - -

Sin Boon Ann 75,000 75,000 - -

(Share options to purchase ordinary shares)

Pang Tak Lim 796,000 796,000 - -

Ultimate Holding Company

- WBL Corporation Limited

(No. of ordinary stock units)

Dr. Cham Tao Soon 18,020 16,020 69,000 69,000

Lester Wong Hein Jee 519,620 77,120 - -

(No. of convertible bond units)

Lester Wong Hein Jee 57,840 - - -

(Options to purchase ordinary stock units)

Lester Wong Hein Jee - 442,500 - -

Related Corporations:

- Multi-Fineline Electronix, Inc

(No. of shares of common stock)

Lester Wong Hein Jee 1,000 1,500 - -



30 MFS Technology Ltd

(b) According to the register of directors’ shareholdings, an executive director holding office at the end of the financial year 

had interests in the options to subscribe for ordinary shares of the Company granted pursuant to the MFS Share Option 

Scheme as set out below and under “Share options” on pages 30 to 32 of this report.

Number of unissued ordinary shares 

under option held by director

At

30.09.2009

At

1.10.2008

Pang Tak Lim 796,000 796,000

(c) The directors’ interests in the ordinary shares of the Company as at 21 October 2009 were the same as those as at 30 

September 2009.

Directors’ contractual benefits

Since the end of the previous financial year, no director has received or become entitled to receive a benefit by reason of a 

contract made by the Company or a related corporation with the director or with a firm of which he is a member or with a 

company in which he has a substantial financial interest, except as disclosed in the accompanying financial statements and 

in this report, and except that Dr. Cham Tao Soon is a director with the ultimate holding company, and had received director’s 

fees in that capacity.

Share options

(a) MFS Share Option Scheme (“MFS Scheme”)

The MFS Scheme in respect of unissued ordinary shares in the capital of the Company was approved by the members of 

the Company at an Extraordinary General Meeting on 28 December 2001. The Remuneration Committee (“Committee”) 

administering the MFS Scheme comprises directors, Mr. Alexander Chan Meng Wah, Dr. Cham Tao Soon and Mr. Reggie 

Thein.

The MFS Scheme shall continue to be in force at the discretion of the Committee, subject to maximum of 10 years 

commencing with the year in which the first date of grant of an option that is accepted by a participant falls, provided always 

that the MFS Scheme may be continued for any further period or periods thereafter with the approval of the Company’s 

shareholders by ordinary resolution in general meeting and of any relevant authorities which may then be required.
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Share options (continued)

(a) MFS Share Option Scheme (“MFS Scheme”) (continued)

Under the MFS Scheme, share options are granted to full-time confirmed employees of the Company or its subsidiaries 

who have been employed for at least 12 months prior to the date of grant of options (the “Date of Grant”) and who have 

attained the age of 21 years on or before the Date of Grant, and who are executives, and eligible directors.  An eligible 

director is either a Director who has been a full-time employee of the Company or any of its subsidiaries for at least 12 

months prior to the Date of Grant and who performs an executive function, or a non-Executive Director (including an 

Independent Director) of the Company or any of its subsidiaries for at least 12 months prior to the Date of Grant.

The aggregate nominal amount of shares over which options may be granted on any date, when added to the nominal 

amount of shares issued and issuable in respect of all options granted under the Scheme, shall not exceed 10% of the 

issued share capital of the Company on the day preceding that date.

The exercise price of the granted options is equal to the average of the last dealt prices of the Company’s ordinary shares 

on the Singapore Exchange for the three consecutive market days immediately preceding the Date of Grant.  

The options are vested one year after the Date of Grant.  Once the options are vested, they are exercisable for a 

contractual term of 9 years in the case of an executive (excluding non-executive Directors of the Company or any of its 

subsidiaries), and 4 years in the case of a non-executive Director of the Company or any of its subsidiaries.

The persons to whom the options have been granted are not eligible to participate in other share option schemes 

implemented by the Company, its ultimate holding company, their respective subsidiaries or associated companies, 

except with the prior approval of the Committee in its absolute discretion.

Details of options granted in 2002, 2003, 2004 and 2005 have been disclosed in the Directors’ Reports for the financial 

years ended 30 September 2002, 2003, 2004 and 2005 respectively.

During the financial year, no options were granted by the Company or any subsidiary. 

No options granted by the Company under the MFS scheme were exercised during the financial year.
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(b) Share options outstanding

The options on ordinary shares of the Company outstanding at the end of the financial year was as follows:

Date of grant

Number

outstanding at

30.9.2009 Exercise price Exercise period

18.11.2003 1,347,500 $0.760 18.11.2004 to 17.11.2013

19.05.2005 2,451,250 $0.585 19.05.2006 to 18.05.2015

3,798,750

Options granted to an executive director of the Company are as follows:

Name of director

Options
granted for

financial
year ended
30.09.2009

Aggregate
options

granted since
commencement

of MFS Scheme to
30.09.2009

Aggregate
options

exercised since
commencement

of MFS Scheme to
30.09.2009

Aggregate
options

outstanding
as at

30.09.2009

Pang Tak Lim - 1,096,000 300,000 796,000

No options have been granted to controlling shareholders of the Company or their associates (as defined in the Listing 

Manual of the Singapore Exchange Securities Trading Limited), ultimate holding group employees, and no employee has 

received 5% or more of the total options available under the scheme, except for options granted to an executive director 

as disclosed above.

No option has been granted at a discount during the financial year.

Except for the above, no other options were granted by the Company or any subsidiary during the financial year and 

there were no unissued shares of any subsidiary under option at the end of the financial year.

(c) Share Appreciation Right and Performance Related Share Plan

Remuneration Committee (“RC”) engaged an external compensation consultant to review, design and recommend a 

longer term incentive program for the Group.  The recommendation was for the termination of further option grants and 

to replace it with a Share Appreciation Rights Plan (“SAR”) and a Performance related Share Plan (“PSP”). 
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(c) Share Appreciation Right and Performance Related Share Plan (continued)

The proposals for the SAR and PSP has been established and approval for its implementation was obtained from 

shareholders at the extraordinary general meeting held on 30 July 2008. 

As at 30 September 2009, no grant under the Company’s SAR and PSP has been made.

Audit committee

The members of the Audit Committee at the end of the financial year were as follows:

Mr. Reggie Thein (Chairman)

Mr. Sin Boon Ann

Mr. Lester Wong Hein Jee

All members of the Audit Committee were independent non-executive directors. 

The Audit Committee carried out its functions in accordance with Section 201B(5) of the Singapore Companies Act. In 

performing those functions, the Committee reviewed:

30 September 2009 before their submission to the Board of Directors, as well as the independent auditor’s report on the 

balance sheet of the Company and the consolidated financial statements of the Group.

The Audit Committee has recommended to the Board that the independent auditor, PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP, be 

nominated for re-appointment at the forthcoming Annual General Meeting of the Company.
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Independent auditor

The independent auditor, PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP, has expressed its willingness to accept re-appointment.

On behalf of the directors

DR. CHAM TAO SOON PANG TAK LIM

Director Director

19 November 2009
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In the opinion of the directors,

(a) the balance sheet of the Company and the consolidated financial statements of the Group as set out on pages 38 to 87 

are drawn up so as to give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the Company and of the Group as at 30 September 

and

(b) at the date of this statement, there are reasonable grounds to believe that the Company will be able to pay its debts as 

and when they fall due.

On behalf of the directors

DR. CHAM TAO SOON PANG TAK LIM

Director Director

19 November 2009

STATEMENT BY DIRECTORS
For the financial year ended 30 September 2009
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We have audited the accompanying financial statements of MFS Technology Ltd (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (the 

“Group”) set out on pages 38 to 87, which comprise the balance sheets of the Company and of the Group as at 30 September 

2009, and the consolidated income statement, the consolidated statement of changes in equity and the consolidated cash 

flow statement of the Group for the financial year then ended, and a summary of significant accounting policies and other 

explanatory notes. 

Management’s Responsibility for the Financial Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial statements in accordance with 

the provisions of the Singapore Companies Act (Cap. 50) (the “Act”) and Singapore Financial Reporting Standards. This 

responsibility includes: 

(a) devising and maintaining a system of internal accounting control sufficient to provide a reasonable assurance that assets 

they are recorded as necessary to permit the preparation of true and fair profit and loss accounts and balance sheets 

(c) making accounting estimates that are reasonable in the circumstances.

Auditor’s Responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audit. We conducted our audit in 

accordance with Singapore Standards on Auditing.  Those Standards require that we comply with ethical requirements and 

plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance as to whether the financial statements are free from material 

misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. 

The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgement, including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement 

of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal 

control relevant to the entity’s preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in order to design audit procedures 

that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s 

internal control. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of 

accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial statements.  

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion.

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
TO THE MEMBERS OF MFS TECHNOLOGY LTD
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Opinion

In our opinion,

(a) the balance sheet of the Company and the consolidated financial statements of the Group are properly drawn up in 

accordance with the provisions of the Act and Singapore Financial Reporting Standards so as to give a true and fair view 

of the state of affairs of the Company and of the Group as at 30 September 2009 and the results, changes in equity and 

(b) the accounting and other records required by the Act to be kept by the Company and by those subsidiaries incorporated 

in Singapore of which we are the auditor, have been properly kept in accordance with the provisions of the Act.

PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP

Public Accountants and Certified Public Accountants

Singapore, 19 November 2009
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The Group

Note 2009 2008

$’000 $’000

Sale of goods 136,035 216,800

Cost of sales (141,147) (212,057)

Gross (loss)/profit (5,112) 4,743

Other income 4 3,818 4,933

Other gains - net 5 48 -

Expenses

- Distribution and marketing (4,388) (6,056)

- Administrative (9,048) (11,683)

- Finance 9 (159) (158)

- Other (482) (1,973)

Loss before income tax (15,323) (10,194)

Income tax credit 10 1,846 168

Total loss  (13,477) (10,026)

Attributable to:

Equity holders of the Company (12,689) (10,127)

Minority interests (788) 101

(13,477) (10,026)

Loss per share attributable to equity

holders of the Company

- Basic 11 1.94 cents 1.53 cents

- Diluted 11 1.94 cents 1.53 cents

CONSOLIDATED INCOME STATEMENT
For the financial year ended 30 September 2009

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements.
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The Group The Company
Note 2009 2008 2009 2008

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

ASSETS
Current assets
Cash and cash equivalents 12 33,360 42,434 1,227 3,756
Derivative financial instruments 16 36 - - -
Trade and other receivables 13 39,312 59,539 30,600 29,635
Inventories 14 24,802 26,272 - -
Tax recoverable 10 2,616 2,885 124 126
Other current assets 15 1,025 1,211 26 16

101,151 132,341 31,977 33,533

Non-current assets
Investments in subsidiaries 17 - - 39,225 39,225
Property, plant and equipment 18 80,134 85,749 3 5

80,134 85,749 39,228 39,230

Total assets 181,285 218,090 71,205 72,763

LIABILITIES
Current liabilities
Trade and other payables 19 37,390 49,222 541 537
Derivative financial instruments 16 - 12 - -
Borrowings 20 - 5,296 - -

37,390 54,530 541 537

Non-current liabilities
Deferred income tax liabilities 10 - 1,611 - -

Total liabilities 37,390 56,141 541 537

NET ASSETS 143,895 161,949 70,664 72,226

EQUITY
Capital and reserves attributable
   to equity holders of the Company
Share capital 21 71,124 71,124 71,124 71,124
Treasury shares 21 (1,260) - (1,260) -
Currency translation reserve (2,872) (2,760) - -
Other reserves 22 4,011 4,011 1,028 1,028
Retained earnings 23 54,103 70,059 (228) 74

125,106 142,434 70,664 72,226
Minority interests 18,789 19,515 - -

Total equity 143,895 161,949 70,664 72,226

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements.

BALANCE SHEETS
As at 30 September 2009
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Attributable to equity holders of the Company

Note

Share 

capital

Treasury 

shares

Currency 

translation

reserve

Other

reserves

Retained

earnings Total

Minority

interests

Total 

equity

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

2009

Beginning of financial year 71,124 - (2,760) 4,011 70,059 142,434 19,515 161,949

Currency translation differences - - (112) - - (112) 62 (50)

Net (loss)/income recognised 

directly in equity - - (112) - - (112) 62 (50)

Net loss - - - - (12,689) (12,689) (788) (13,477)

Total recognised loss - - (112) - (12,689) (12,801) (726) (13,527)

Purchase of treasury shares - (1,260) - - - (1,260) - (1,260)

Dividend relating to 2008 paid 24 - - - - (3,267) (3,267) - (3,267)

End of financial year 71,124 (1,260) (2,872) 4,011 54,103 125,106 18,789 143,895

2008

Beginning of financial year 71,124 - (3,018) 2,777 88,024 158,907 18,518 177,425

Currency translation differences - - 258 - - 258 896 1,154

Net income recognised directly in 

equity - - 258 - - 258 896 1,154

Net (loss)/profit - - - - (10,127) (10,127) 101 (10,026)

Total recognised income/(loss) - - 258 - (10,127) (9,869) 997 (8,872)

Transfer from retained earnings to 

other reserves 22 - - - 1,234 (1,234) - - -

Dividend relating to 2007 paid 24 - - - - (6,604) (6,604) - (6,604)

End of financial year 71,124 - (2,760) 4,011 70,059 142,434 19,515 161,949

An analysis of the movements in each category within “other reserves” is presented in Note 22.

Only retained earnings are distributable.

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements.

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
For the financial year ended 30 September 2009
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The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements.

Note 2009 2008

$’000 $’000

Cash flows from operating activities
Total loss (13,477) (10,026)

Adjustments for:
   - Income tax credit (1,846) (168)
   - Depreciation 10,832 9,612
   - Impairment loss of property, plant and equipment - 941
   - Net loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment 52 32
   - Interest income (114) (501)
   - Interest expense 159 158
   - Unrealised translation losses 40 332

(4,354) 380
Change in working capital 
   - Trade and other receivables 20,208 4,813
   - Inventories 1,468 2,467
   - Other current assets 199 1,094
   - Trade and other payables (11,803) (5,293)
   - Provision for warranty - (393)

Cash generated from operations 5,718 3,068
Income tax refund/(paid) 482 (2,636)

Net cash provided by operating activities 6,200 432

Cash flows from investing activities
Proceeds from disposal of property, plant and equipment 2 29
Purchases of property, plant and equipment (5,360) (16,546)
Interest received 114 501

Net cash used in investing activities (5,244) (16,016)

Cash flows from financing activities
Proceeds from borrowings - 5,296
Repayment of borrowings (5,304) (2,072)
Purchase of treasury shares (1,260) -
Dividends paid to equity holders of the Company (3,267) (6,604)
Interest paid (159) (158)

Net cash used in financing activities (9,990) (3,538)

Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents (9,034) (19,122)
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of financial year 42,434 61,888
Effects of currency translation on cash and cash equivalents (40) (332)

Cash and cash equivalents at end of financial year 12 33,360 42,434

CONSOLIDATED CASH FLOW STATEMENT
For the financial year ended 30 September 2009



42 MFS Technology Ltd

These notes form an integral part of and should be read in conjunction with the accompanying financial statements.

1. General information 

MFS Technology Ltd (the “Company”) is listed on the Singapore Exchange and incorporated and domiciled in Singapore.  

The address of its registered office is 22 Tuas Avenue 8, Singapore 639237.

The principal activity of the Company is that of an investment holding company.  The subsidiaries are principally engaged 

in the design, manufacture and distribution of flexible printed circuits and printed circuit boards.  The subsidiaries also 

provide turnkey component assembly services for flexible printed circuits and value-added services to companies in the 

Group.

2. Significant accounting policies

2.1 Basis of preparation

These financial statements have been prepared in accordance with Singapore Financial Reporting Standards (“FRS”).  

The financial statements have been prepared under the historical cost convention, except as disclosed in the accounting 

policies below. 

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with FRS requires management to exercise its judgement in the 

process of applying the Group’s accounting policies. It also requires the use of certain critical accounting estimates and 

assumptions.  Areas involving a higher degree of judgement or complexity, or areas where assumptions and estimates 

are significant to the financial statements, are disclosed in Note 3.

There are no new or amended Standards and Interpretations effective in 2009 which are relevant to the Group.

2.2 Revenue recognition

Sales comprises the fair value of the consideration received or receivable for the sale of goods in the ordinary course of 

the Group’s activities.  Sales are presented net of value-added tax, rebates and discounts, and after eliminating sales 

within the Group.  

The Group recognises revenue when the amount of revenue and related cost can be reliably measured, when it is 

probable that the collectibility of the related receivables is reasonably assured and when the specific criteria for each of 

the Group’s activities are met as follows:

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the financial year ended 30 September 2009
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2. Significant accounting policies (continued)

2.2 Revenue recognition (continued)

(a) Sale of goods

Revenue from these sales is recognised when a Group entity has delivered the goods to locations specified by its 

customers, the customers have accepted the goods in accordance with the sales contract and the collectibility of 

the related receivable is reasonably assured.  

(b) Interest income

Interest income is recognised using the effective interest method. 

(c) Dividend income

Dividend income is recognised when the right to receive payment is established.

2.3 Group accounting 

(a) Subsidiaries

Subsidiaries are entities over which the Group has power to govern the financial and operating policies, generally 

accompanied by a shareholding giving rise to a majority of the voting rights.  The existence and effect of potential 

voting rights that are currently exercisable or convertible are considered when assessing whether the Group 

controls another entity.

The purchase method of accounting is used to account for the acquisition of subsidiaries, except for the subsidiaries 

acquired as part of a restructuring exercise on 28 December 2001.  Under the restructuring exercise, the Company 

acquired its interest in MFS Technology (S) Pte Ltd and its subsidiaries, namely Flex Solutions (Singapore) Pte Ltd, 

MFS Technology (M) Sdn. Bhd. and MFS Technology (PCB) Co., Ltd.  These subsidiaries are consolidated using 

the “pooling of interest” method.  Under the pooling of interest method, the results and balance sheet of the Group 

were presented as if the Group had been in existence prior to 28 December 2001 and the assets and liabilities were 

brought into the consolidated financial statements at their existing carrying amounts.

Under the purchase method of accounting, the cost of an acquisition is measured as the fair value of the assets 

given, equity instruments issued or liabilities incurred or assumed at the date of exchange, plus costs directly 

attributable to the acquisition.  Identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed in a business combination are 

measured initially at their fair values on the date of acquisition, irrespective of the extent of any minority interest.

Subsidiaries are consolidated from the date on which control is transferred to the Group.  They are de-consolidated 

from the date on which control ceases.  
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2. Significant accounting policies (continued)

2.3 Group accounting (continued)

(a) Subsidiaries (continued)

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, transactions, balances and unrealised gains on transactions 

between group entities are eliminated. Unrealised losses are also eliminated but are considered an impairment 

indicator of the asset transferred.  Accounting polices of subsidiaries have been changed where necessary to 

ensure consistency with the polices adopted by the Group.

Minority interests are that part of net results of operations and of net assets of a subsidiary attributable to the 

interests which are not owned directly or indirectly by the Group.  They are measured at the minorities’ share of fair 

value of the subsidiaries’ identifiable assets and liabilities at the date of acquisition by the Group and the minorities’ 

share of changes in equity since the date of acquisition, except when the minorities’ share of losses in a subsidiary 

exceeds its interest in the equity of that subsidiary.  In such cases, the excess and further losses applicable to the 

minorities are attributed to the equity holders of the Company, unless the minorities have a binding obligation to, 

and are able to, make good the losses.  When that subsidiary subsequently reports profits, the profits applicable 

to the minority are attributed to the equity holders of the Company until the minorities’ share of losses previously 

absorbed by the equity holders of the Company are fully recovered. 

Please refer to the paragraph “Investments in subsidiaries” for the accounting policy on investments in subsidiaries 

in the separate financial statements of the Company.

(b) Transactions with minority interests

The Group applies a policy of treating transactions with minority interests as transactions with parties external to 

the Group. Disposals to minority interests result in gains and losses for the Group that are recognised in the income 

statement.

2.4 Property, plant and equipment 

(a) Measurement

(i) Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are initially recognised at cost and subsequently carried at cost less 

accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment losses. 
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2. Significant accounting policies (continued)

2.4 Property, plant and equipment (continued)

(a) Measurement (continued)

(ii) Components of costs

The cost of an item of property, plant and equipment initially recognised includes its purchase price and 

any cost that is directly attributable to bringing the asset to the location and condition necessary for it to be 

capable of operating in the manner intended by management.

(b) Depreciation

Depreciation on property, plant and equipment is calculated using the straight-line method to allocate their 

depreciable amounts over their estimated useful lives as follows:

  Useful lives

Leasehold land and buildings 50 years

Leasehold improvements 3 years

Plant and machinery 3 to 10 years

Furniture and fittings 10 years

Office equipment 5 years

The residual values, estimated useful lives and depreciation method of property, plant and equipment are reviewed, 

and adjusted as appropriate, at each balance sheet date.  The effects of any revision are recognised in the income 

statement when the changes arise.

(c) Subsequent expenditure

Subsequent expenditure relating to property, plant and equipment that has already been recognised is added to 

the carrying amount of the asset only when it is probable that future economic benefits associated with the item will 

flow to the Group and the cost of the item can be measured reliably.  All other repair and maintenance expenses 

are recognised in the income statement when incurred.

(d) Disposal

On disposal of an item of property, plant and equipment, the difference between the disposal proceeds and its 

carrying amount is recognised in the income statement. 
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2. Significant accounting policies (continued)

2.5 Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs are recognised in the income statement using the effective interest method. 

2.6 Investments in subsidiaries

Investments in subsidiaries are carried at cost less accumulated impairment losses in the Company’s balance sheet. 

On disposal of investments in subsidiaries, the difference between disposal proceeds and the carrying amounts of the 

investments are recognised in the income statement.

2.7 Impairment of non-financial assets

Property, plant and equipment and investments in subsidiaries are tested for impairment whenever there is any objective 

evidence or indication that these assets may be impaired. 

For the purpose of impairment testing, the recoverable amount (i.e. the higher of the fair value less cost to sell and 

the value-in-use) is determined on an individual asset basis unless the asset does not generate cash flows that are 

largely independent of those from other assets. If this is the case, the recoverable amount is determined for the cash-

generating-units (“CGU”) to which the asset belongs.

If the recoverable amount of the asset (or CGU) is estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the carrying amount of 

the asset (or CGU) is reduced to its recoverable amount. 

The difference between the carrying amount and recoverable amount is recognised as an impairment loss in the income 

statement.

An impairment loss for an asset is reversed if, and only if, there has been a change in the estimates used to determine 

the asset’s recoverable amount since the last impairment loss was recognised. The carrying amount of this asset is 

increased to its revised recoverable amount, provided that this amount does not exceed the carrying amount that would 

have been determined (net of any accumulated amortisation or depreciation) had no impairment loss been recognised 

for the asset in prior years. 

A reversal of impairment loss for an asset is recognised in the income statement.

2.8 Financial assets

(a) Classification

The Group classifies its financial assets as loans and receivables. The classification depends on the purpose for which 

the assets were acquired.  Management determines the classification of its financial assets at initial recognition.
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2. Significant accounting policies (continued)

2.8 Financial assets (continued)

(a) Classification (continued)

Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted 

in an active market. They are presented as current assets, except for those maturing later than 12 months after 

the balance sheet date which are presented as non-current assets. Loans and receivables are presented as “trade 

and other receivables” and “cash and cash equivalents” on the balance sheet.

(b) Recognition and derecognition

Regular purchases and sales of financial assets are recognised on trade-date - the date on which the Group 

commits to purchase or sell the asset. 

Financial assets are derecognised when the rights to receive cash flows from the financial assets have expired or 

have been transferred and the Group has transferred substantially all risks and rewards of ownership.  On disposal 

of a financial asset, the difference between the carrying amount and the sale proceeds is recognised in the income 

statement.

(c) Initial measurement

Financial assets are initially recognised at fair value plus transaction costs.

(d) Subsequent measurement

Loans and receivables are subsequently carried at amortised cost using the effective interest method. 

(e) Impairment

The Group assesses at each balance sheet date whether there is objective evidence that a financial asset or a 

group of financial assets is impaired and recognises an allowance for impairment when such evidence exists.

Significant financial difficulties of the debtor, probability that the debtor will enter bankruptcy, and default or 

significant delay in payments are objective evidence that these financial assets are impaired. 

The carrying amount of these assets is reduced through the use of an impairment allowance account which is 

calculated as the difference between the carrying amount and the present value of estimated future cash flows, 

discounted at the original effective interest rate. When the asset becomes uncollectible, it is written off against the 

allowance account. Subsequent recoveries of amounts previously written off are recognised against the same line 

item in the income statement.
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2. Significant accounting policies (continued)

2.8 Financial assets (continued)

(e) Impairment (continued)

The allowance for impairment loss account is reduced through the income statement in a subsequent period when 

the amount of impairment loss decreases and the related decrease can be objectively measured. The carrying 

amount of the asset previously impaired is increased to the extent that the new carrying amount does not exceed 

the amortised cost had no impairment been recognised in prior periods.

2.9 Borrowings 

Borrowings are presented as current liabilities unless the Group has an unconditional right to defer settlement for at least 

12 months after the balance sheet date.

Borrowings are initially recognised at fair value (net of transaction costs) and subsequently carried at amortised cost.  

Any difference between the proceeds (net of transaction costs) and the redemption value is recognised in the income 

statement over the period of the borrowings using the effective interest method.

2.10 Trade and other payables

Trade and other payables are initially recognised at fair value, and subsequently carried at amortised cost using the 

effective interest method. 

2.11 Derivative financial instruments 

A derivative financial instrument is initially recognised at its fair value on the date the contract is entered into and is 

subsequently carried at its fair value. The method of recognising the resulting gain or loss depends on whether the 

derivative is designated as a hedging instrument, and if so, the nature of the item being hedged. 

Derivative instruments of the Group do not qualify for hedge accounting.  

Changes in the fair value of any derivative instruments that do not qualify for hedge accounting are recognised immediately 

in the income statement.

2.12 Fair value estimation of financial assets and liabilities 

The fair values of currency forwards are determined using actively quoted forward exchange rates. 

The fair values of current financial assets and liabilities carried at amortised cost approximate their carrying amounts.  
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2. Significant accounting policies (continued)

2.13 Leases

The Group leases land under operating leases from non-related parties.

Leases of land where substantially all risks and rewards incidental to ownership are retained by the lessors are classified 

as operating leases.  Payments made under operating leases (net of any incentives received from the lessors) are 

recognised in the income statement on a straight-line basis over the period of the lease.

Contingent rents are recognised as an expense in the income statement when incurred.

2.14 Research costs

Research costs are recognised as an expense when incurred.

Costs incurred on development activities or projects are recognised as intangible assets when the following criteria are 

fulfilled:

(e) adequate technical, financial and other resources to complete the development and to use or sell the intangible 

(f) the expenditure attributable to the intangible asset during its development can be reliably measured.

Other development expenditure that does not meet these criteria is recognised as an expense as incurred.  Development 

expenditure previously recognised as an expense is not recognised as an asset in a subsequent period.

2.15 Inventories

Inventories are carried at the lower of cost and net realisable value.  Cost is determined using the first-in, first-out method.  

The cost of finished goods and work in progress comprises raw materials, direct labour, other direct costs and related 

production overheads (based on normal operating capacity) but excludes borrowing costs.  Net realisable value is the 

estimated selling price in the ordinary course of business, less applicable variable selling expenses.

2.16 Income taxes

Current income tax for current and prior periods is recognised at the amount expected to be paid to or recovered from 

the tax authorities, using the tax rates and tax laws that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the balance 

sheet date.
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2. Significant accounting policies (continued)

2.16 Income taxes (continued)

Deferred income tax is recognised for all temporary differences arising between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and 

their carrying amounts in the financial statements except when the deferred income tax arises from the initial recognition 

of goodwill or an asset or liability in a transaction that is not a business combination and affects neither accounting nor 

taxable profit or loss at the time of the transaction.

A deferred income tax liability is recognised on temporary differences arising on investments in subsidiaries, except 

where the Group is able to control the timing of the reversal of the temporary difference and it is probable that the 

temporary difference will not reverse in the foreseeable future.

A deferred income tax asset is recognised to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profit will be available against 

which the deductible temporary differences and tax losses can be utilised. 

Deferred income tax is measured:

(i) at the tax rates that are expected to apply when the related deferred income tax asset is realised or the deferred 

income tax liability is settled, based on tax rates and tax laws that have been enacted or substantively enacted by 

(ii) based on the tax consequence that will follow from the manner in which the Group expects, at the balance sheet 

date, to recover or settle the carrying amounts of its assets and liabilities.  

Current and deferred income taxes are recognised as income or expense in the income statement, except to the extent 

that the tax arises from a business combination or a transaction which is recognised directly in equity.  Deferred tax 

arising from a business combination is adjusted against goodwill on acquisition.

2.17 Provisions

Provisions for warranty are recognised when the Group has a present legal or constructive obligation as a result of past 

events, it is more likely than not that an outflow of resources will be required to settle the obligation and the amount has 

been reliably estimated. 

The Group recognises the estimated liability to repair or replace products still under warranty at the balance sheet date.  

This provision is calculated based on historical experience of the level of repairs and replacements.
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2. Significant accounting policies (continued)

2.18 Employee compensation

The Group’s contributions are recognised as employee compensation expense when they are due, unless they can be 

capitalised as an asset.

(a) Defined contribution plans

Defined contribution plans are post-employment benefit plans under which the Group pays fixed contributions into 

separate entities such as the Central Provident Fund on a mandatory, contractual or voluntary basis.  The Group 

has no further payment obligations once the contributions have been paid.

(b) Share-based compensation

The Group operates an equity-settled, share-based compensation plan. The fair value of the employee services 

received in exchange for the grant of options is recognised as an expense in the income statement with a 

corresponding increase in the share option reserve over the vesting period. The total amount to be recognised over 

the vesting period is determined by reference to the fair value of the options granted on the date of the grant. Non-

market vesting conditions are included in the estimation of the number of shares under options that are expected 

to become exercisable on vesting date. At each balance sheet date, the Group revises its estimates of the number 

of shares under options that are expected to become exercisable on the vesting date and recognises the impact of 

the revision of the estimates in the income statement, with a corresponding adjustment to the share option reserve 

over the remaining vesting period.

Share options are granted to directors and to employees with more than one year of service.  When the options 

are exercised, the proceeds received (net of transaction costs) and the related balance previously recognised in the 

share option reserve are credited to share capital account when new ordinary shares are issued, or to the “treasury 

shares” account when treasury shares are re-issued to the employees.

(c) Employee leave entitlement

Employee entitlements to annual leave are recognised when they accrue to employees.  A provision is made for the 

estimated liability for annual leave as a result of services rendered by employees up to the balance sheet date.

(d) Government grants

Grants from the government are recognised at their fair value when there is reasonable assurance that the grant 

will be received and the Group will comply with all the attached conditions. Government grants relating to expenses 

are shown separately as offset against the related expenses. 
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2. Significant accounting policies (continued)

2.19 Currency translation

(a) Functional and presentation currency 

Items included in the financial statements of each entity in the Group are measured using the currency of the 

primary economic environment in which the entity operates (“functional currency”). The financial statements are 

presented in Singapore Dollars.

(b) Transactions and balances

Transactions in a currency other than the functional currency (“foreign currency”) are translated into the functional 

currency using the exchange rates at the dates of the transactions. Currency translation differences from the 

settlement of such transactions and from the translation of monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign 

currencies at the closing rates at the balance sheet date are recognised in the income statement.

Non-monetary items measured at fair values in foreign currencies are translated using the exchange rates at the 

date when the fair values are determined.

(c) Translation of Group entities’ financial statements

The results and financial position of all the Group entities (none of which has the currency of a hyperinflationary 

economy) that have a functional currency different from the presentation currency are translated into the presentation 

currency as follows:

(ii) Income and expenses are translated at average exchange rate (unless the average is not a reasonable 

approximation of the cumulative effect of the rates prevailing on the transaction dates, in which case income 

(iii) All resulting currency translation differences are recognised in the currency translation reserve. 

2.20 Segment reporting

A business segment is a distinguishable component of the Group engaged in providing products or services that are 

subject to risks and returns that are different from those of other business segments.  A geographical segment is 

a distinguishable component of the Group engaged in providing products or services within a particular economic 

environment that is subject to risks and returns that are different from those of segments operating in other economic 

environments.
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2. Significant accounting policies (continued)

2.21 Cash and cash equivalents

For the purpose of presentation in the consolidated cash flow statement, cash and cash equivalents include cash on 

hand and deposits with financial institutions, which are subject to an insignificant risk of change in value.  

2.22 Share capital and treasury shares

Ordinary shares are classified as equity. Incremental costs directly attributable to the issuance of new ordinary shares are 

deducted against the share capital account.

When any entity within the Group purchases the Company’s ordinary shares (“treasury shares”), the consideration 

paid including any directly attributable incremental cost is presented as a component within equity attributable to the 

Company’s equity holders, until they are cancelled, sold or reissued. 

When treasury shares are subsequently cancelled, the cost of treasury shares are deducted against the share capital 

account if the shares are purchased out of capital of the Company, or against the retained earnings of the Company if 

the shares are purchased out of earnings of the Company. 

When treasury shares are subsequently sold or reissued pursuant to the employee share option scheme, the cost 

of treasury shares is reversed from the treasury share account and the realised gain or loss on sale or reissue, net of 

any directly attributable incremental transaction costs and related income tax, is recognised in the capital reserve of 

the Company.

2.23 Dividends to Company’s shareholders

Dividends to Company’s shareholders are recognised when the dividends are approved for payment.

3. Critical accounting estimates, assumptions and judgements

Estimates, assumptions and judgements are continually evaluated and are based on historical experience and other 

factors, including expectations of future events that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances.

(a) Impairment of property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are reviewed for impairment whenever there is an indication that these assets may 

be impaired.  The Group considers the guidance of FRS 36 in assessing whether there is any indication that an item 

of property, plant and equipment may be impaired.  If any such indication exists, the recoverable amount of the 

property, plant and equipment is estimated to ascertain the amount of impairment loss.  The recoverable amount 

is defined as the higher of the fair value less cost to sell and value-in-use.
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3. Critical accounting estimates, assumptions and judgements (continued)

(a) Impairment of property, plant and equipment (continued)

Property, plant and equipment of the Flexible Printed Circuits business segment were subjected to an impairment 

test in the financial year ended 30 September 2009.  The recoverable amount of these assets and where applicable, 

cash-generating units, have been determined based on value-in-use calculations.  These calculations require the 

use of estimates.

Cash flow projections used in the value-in-use calculations were based on financial budgets of 2010 approved by 

Board of Directors and a projection for the second and third years, taking into account projected results of 2010.  

Cash flows beyond the three year period were extrapolated using the estimated growth rate of 3% (2008: 0%), 

which does not exceed the long term average growth rate for the market in which the business operate.  Other 

key assumptions used for value-in-use calculations include a budgeted gross margin of 10% (2008: 9%) and 

pre-tax discount rate of 13.94% (2008: 13%).  Management determined budgeted gross margin based on past 

performance and its expectations of the market development.  The discount rate used was pre-tax and reflected 

specific risks relating to the business segment.  Changes in certain assumptions used in 2009 as compared to 

2008 was a result of changes in management’s expectation of the future market conditions.

As at 30 September 2009, management determined no impairment charge is required as the recoverable amounts 

of the property, plant and equipment exceeds the carrying amount by $10,263,000.

Management has performed the following sensitivity analysis on the value in-use calculation.

If the estimated growth rate applied to the projected cashflows beyond the three year period is reduced by 1%, the 

recoverable amounts of the property, plant and equipment would exceed the carrying amounts by $5,224,000.

If the budgeted gross margin applied to the value-in-use calculations is reduced by 0.5%, the recoverable amounts 

would equal the carrying amounts of property, plant and equipment. 

If the budgeted gross margin from 2010 onwards applied to the value-in-use calculations is reduced by 1%, the 

carrying amounts of property, plant and equipment would have been reduced by $6,635,000.

(b) Estimated useful lives of property, plant and equipment

The Group reviews annually the estimated useful lives of property, plant and equipment based on factors such as 

business plans and strategies, expected level of usage and future technological developments.  It is possible that 

future results of operations could be materially affected by changes in these estimates brought about by changes 

in the factors mentioned.  A reduction in the estimated useful lives of property, plant and equipment would increase 

the recorded depreciation and decrease the carrying value of property, plant and equipment.
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3. Critical accounting estimates, assumptions and judgements (continued)

(c) Impairment of loans and receivables

Management reviews loans and other receivables for objective evidence of impairment at each balance sheet 

date. Significant financial difficulties of the debtor, the probability that the debtor will enter bankruptcy, and default 

or significant delay in payments are considered objective evidence that a receivable is impaired. In determining 

this, management makes judgement as to whether there is observable data indicating there has been a significant 

change in the payment ability of the debtor, or whether there have been significant changes with adverse effect in 

the technological, market, economic or legal environment in which the debtor operates. 

Where there is objective evidence of impairment, management makes judgement as to whether an impairment 

loss should be recorded in the income statement. In determining this, management uses estimates based on 

historical loss experience for assets with similar credit risk characteristics. The methodology and assumptions used 

for estimating both the amount and timing of future cash flows are reviewed regularly to reduce any differences 

between the estimated loss and actual loss experience. 

(d) Inventories

The Group records its inventories at the lower of costs or net realisable value. The inventories are reviewed on a 

regular basis and the Group will record a provision for excess or obsolete inventory based primarily on historical 

trend and estimate of expected and future product demand.

(e) Uncertain tax position

The Group is subject to income taxes in numerous jurisdictions. In determining the income tax liabilities, management 

is required to estimate the amount of capital allowances and the deductibility of certain expenses (“uncertain 

tax positions”) at each tax jurisdiction.  There are many transactions and calculations for which the ultimate tax 

determination is uncertain during the course of business.  The Group recognises liabilities for anticipated tax audit 

issues based on estimates of whether additional taxes will be due.  Where the final tax outcome of these matters 

is different from the amounts that were initially recorded, such differences will impact the income tax and deferred 

income tax provisions in the period in which such determination is made.
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4. Other income 
The Group

2009 2008

$’000 $’000

Interest income from bank deposits 114 501

Sale of scraps 2,365 4,167

Compensation claims 747 -

Sundry income 592 265

3,818 4,933

5. Other gains - net
The Group

2009 2008

$’000 $’000

Fair value gains on derivatives 48 -

6. Expenses by nature
The Group

2009 2008

$’000 $’000

Other fees paid/payable to other auditors of the Company 3 48

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment (Note 18) 10,832 9,612

Impairment loss of property, plant and equipment (Note 18) - 941

Employee compensation (Note 7) 28,028 33,379

Rental expense on operating leases 127 153

Purchases of raw materials and consumables 101,522 147,545

Subcontractor charges 5,119 21,291

Inventories write down - net 769 1,790

Currency translation loss - net 358 1,887

Research and development costs 371 629

Net loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment 52 32

Changes in inventories of raw materials, work-in-progress and finished goods 1,470 2,534

Others 6,414 11,928

Total cost of sales, distribution and marketing, administrative and other expenses 155,065 231,769
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7. Employee compensation
The Group

2009 2008

$’000 $’000

Wages and salaries 22,336 25,929

Employer’s contribution to defined contribution plans including Central Provident Fund 3,015 4,133

Other short term employment benefits 3,090 3,317

Less: Government grant- Jobs Credit scheme (413) -

28,028 33,379

The Jobs Credit Scheme is a cash grant introduced in the Singapore Budget 2009 to help businesses preserve jobs in 

the economic downturn.  The Jobs Credit will be paid to eligible employers in 2009 in four payments and the amount an 

employee can receive would depend on the fulfilment of the conditions as stated in the scheme.

8. Remuneration bands of directors of the Company
2009 2008

Number of directors of the Company in remuneration bands:

Above $1,000,000 - -

$750,000 to $999,999 - -

$500,000 to $749,999 1 1

$250,000 to $499,999 - -

Below $250,000 5 5

Total 6 6

The above banding is based on remuneration paid/payable by the Company and its subsidiaries to the directors of the 

Company.

9. Finance expenses
The Group

2009 2008

$’000 $’000

Interest expense:

   - Bank borrowings 159 158
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10. Income taxes

(a) Income tax expense
The Group

2009 2008
$’000 $’000

Tax expense attributable to financial result is made up of:
   - Result from current financial year:
Current income tax 
   - Singapore 4 7
   - Foreign - 402

4 409
Deferred income tax (717) (613)

(713) (204)
- (Over)/under provision in prior financial years:
Current income tax (238) 94
Deferred income tax (895) (58)

Tax credit (1,846) (168)

On 7 November 2005, a subsidiary was granted the Development and Expansion Incentive under the Singapore 
Economic Expansion Incentives (Relief from Income Tax) Act, Chapter 86 (the “Act”) by the Economic Development 
Board for the expansion of flexible printed circuit manufacturing, for a five-year period commencing from 1 April 2004.  
During the five-year period, the subsidiary’s qualifying income, subject to compliance with the conditions stated in the 
Development and Expansion Certificate and the Act, will be taxed at a concessionary rate of 10% on qualifying income 
in excess of $10,681,000.  The grant expired on 31 March 2009.

The tax expense on financial result differs from the amount that would arise using the Singapore standard rate of income 
tax as explained below:

The Group
2009 2008
$’000 $’000

Loss before tax (15,323) (10,194)

Tax calculated at tax rate of 17% (2008: 18%) (2,605) (1,835)
Effects of:
   - Different tax rates in other countries (717) (279)
   - Effect of changes in tax rates (54) (94)
   - Income taxed at concessionary rate pursuant to tax incentive 118 78
   - Expenses not deductible for tax purposes 357 393
   - Singapore statutory stepped income exemption (4) (8)
   - Current year tax losses not recognised 2,192 1,541

Tax credit (713) (204)
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10. Income taxes (continued)

(b) Movement in tax recoverable

The Group The Company
2009 2008 2009 2008
$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Beginning of financial year (2,885) (820) (126) (127)
Currency translation differences 21 68 - -
Income tax refund/(paid) 482 (2,636) (1) (7)
Tax expense 4 409 3 8
(Over)/under provision in prior financial years (238) 94 - -

End of financial year (2,616) (2,885) (124) (126)

(c) Deferred income taxes

Movement in deferred income tax account is as follows:

The Group

2009 2008

$’000 $’000

Beginning of financial year 1,611 2,331

Currency translation differences 1 (49)

Credited to Income Statement (1,612) (671)

End of financial year - 1,611



60 MFS Technology Ltd

10. Income taxes (continued)

The movement in deferred income tax assets and liabilities (prior to offsetting of balances within the same tax jurisdiction) 

is as follows: 

The Group

Deferred income tax liabilities
 Accelerated

tax
depreciation Others Total

$’000 $’000 $’000

2009
Beginning of financial year 2,162 - 2,162
Currency translation differences 1 - 1
Credited to Income Statement (1,302) - (1,302)

End of financial year 861 - 861

2008
Beginning of financial year 2,979 3 2,982
Currency translation differences (61) - (61)
Credited to Income Statement (756) (3) (759)

End of financial year 2,162 - 2,162

The Group

Deferred income tax assets
Tax losses Provisions Total

$’000 $’000 $’000
2009
Beginning of financial year - (551) (551)
(Credited)/charged to Income Statement (581) 271 (310)

End of financial year (581) (280) (861)

2008
Beginning of financial year - (651) (651)
Currency translation differences - 12 12
Charged to Income Statement - 88 88

End of financial year - (551) (551)

Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally enforceable right to offset current income tax 

assets against current income tax liabilities and when the deferred income taxes relate to the same fiscal authority.  The 

amounts, determined after appropriate offsetting, are shown on the balance sheet as follows:
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10. Income taxes (continued)
The Group

2009 2008
$’000 $’000

Deferred income tax liabilities - 1,611

The amounts shown in the consolidated balance sheets include the following:

The Group
2009 2008
$’000 $’000

Deferred income tax liabilities to be settled after 12 months - 2,157

Deferred tax assets have not been recognised for the unutilised tax losses of $16,867,000 (2008: $8,893,000) as the 

timing of future taxable profits in the  different tax jurisdiction available for realisation of these temporary differences is 

uncertain.  The tax losses have no expiry dates.

Deferred income tax liabilities of $34,000 (2008: $92,000) have not been recognised for the withholding and other taxes 

that will be payable on the earnings of an overseas subsidiary when remitted to the holding company.  These unremitted 

earnings are permanently reinvested and amount to $684,000 (2008: $1,841,000) at the balance sheet date.

11. Earnings per share

(a) Basic earnings per share

Basic earnings per share is calculated by dividing the net loss attributable to equity holders of the Company by the 

weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding during the financial year.

The Group
2009 2008

Net loss attributable to equity holders of the Company ($’000) (12,689) (10,127)

Weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding 

   for basic earnings per share (’000) 654,562 660,431

Basic loss per share 1.94 cents 1.53 cents



62 MFS Technology Ltd

11. Earnings per share (continued)

(b) Diluted earnings per share

For the purpose of calculating diluted earnings per share, profit attributable to equity holders of the Company and the 

weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding are adjusted for the effects of all dilutive potential ordinary 

shares.  The Company has only one category of dilutive potential ordinary shares: share options.

For share options, the weighted average number of shares on issue has been adjusted as if all dilutive share options 

were exercised.  The number of shares that could have been issued upon the exercise of all dilutive share options less 

the number of shares that could have been issued at fair value (determined as the Company’s average share price 

for the financial year) for the same total proceeds is added to the denominator as the number of shares issued for no 

consideration.  No adjustment is made to the net profit. 

Dilutive earnings per share attributable to equity holders of the Company is calculated as follows:

The Group
2009 2008

Net loss attributable to equity holders of the Company (12,689) (10,127)

Weighted average number of ordinary shares

   outstanding for basic earnings per share (’000) 654,562 660,431

Adjustment for assumed conversion of share options (’000) - -

Weighted average number of ordinary shares

   for diluted earnings per share (’000) 654,562 660,431

Diluted loss per share 1.94 cents 1.53 cents

12. Cash and cash equivalents

The Group The Company

2009 2008 2009 2008

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Cash at bank and on hand 33,360 11,934 1,227 256

Short-term bank deposits - 30,500 - 3,500

33,360 42,434 1,227 3,756
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12. Cash and cash equivalents (continued)

Short-term bank deposits at the balance sheet date had an average maturity of nil (2008: three months) from the end of 

the financial year with the following weighted average effective interest rates: 

The Group The Company

2009 2008 2009 2008

Singapore Dollar - 1.4% - 0.9%

13. Trade and other receivables

The Group The Company

2009 2008 2009 2008

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Trade receivables

- Related corporations 590 4,479 - -

- Non-related parties 39,162 55,727 21 32

39,752 60,206 21 32

Less: Allowance for impairment of receivables (492) (541) - -

39,260 59,665 21 32

Less: Allowance for sales returns (176) (518) - -

39,084 59,147 21 32

Loan to a subsidiary - - 16,601 16,601

Receivable from subsidiaries (non-trade) - - 13,978 12,996

Other receivables 228 392 - 6

39,312 59,539 30,600 29,635

The loan to a subsidiary and non-trade amounts due from subsidiaries are unsecured, repayable on demand and 

interest free.
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14. Inventories

The Group
2009 2008
$’000 $’000

Finished goods 5,020 8,569
Work in progress 10,446 10,719
Raw materials 9,336 6,984

24,802 26,272

The cost of inventories recognised as an expense and included in “cost of sales” amounted to $102,992,000 (2008: 
$150,079,000).

The Group has recognised a reversal of $1,838,000 (2008: $2,501,000), being part of an inventory writedown made in 
the prior financial year, as the inventories were sold above the carrying amounts in 2009.

15. Other current assets

2009 2008 2009 2008
$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Deposits for purchase of property, plant and equipment 302 288 - -
Deposits and prepayments 723 923 26 16

1,025 1,211 26 16

16. Derivative financial instruments

The Group
Contract
notional Fair value
amount Assets Liabilities
US$’000 $’000 $’000

2009
Non-hedging instruments
   - Currency forwards 17,000 36 -

2008

Non-hedging instruments

 - Currency forwards 17,000 - (12)
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17. Investments in subsidiaries
The Company

2009 2008

$’000 $’000

Equity investments at cost 39,225 39,225

Name of subsidiary Principal activities

Country of

incorporation

and place

of business Equity holding Cost of investment

2009 2008 2009 2008

% % $’000 $’000

Held by the Company:

MFS Technology (S) Pte Ltd ** Manufacture and marketing 

of flexible printed circuits and 

associated assembly

Singapore 100 100 39,225 39,225

Held by a subsidiary:

Flex Solutions (Singapore) 

Pte Ltd ***

Marketing of flexible printed 

circuits. However, the company 

has ceased operations

Singapore 100 100 - -

MFS Technology (M) Sdn. Bhd. * Manufacture of flexible printed 

circuits and associated assembly

Malaysia 100 100 - -

MFS Technology (PCB) 

Co.,Ltd +@#

Manufacture and marketing of 

printed circuit boards

People’s Republic 

of China

65 65 - -

MFS Technology (Hunan) Co.,

Co.,Ltd +@#

Manufacture of flexible printed 

circuits and associated assembly

People’s Republic

of China

65 65 - -

39,225 39,225

* Considered a significant subsidiary company under Rule 718 of SGX-ST’s Listing Manual and audited by PricewaterhouseCoopers, Malaysia.

** Considered a significant subsidiary company under Rule 718 of SGX-ST’s Listing Manual and audited by the auditors of the Company.

*** Audited by the auditors of the Company.

# Considered a significant subsidiary under Rule 718 of SGX-ST’s Listing Manual.

+ The auditors are Hua Yin Certified Public Accountants for local statutory audit purposes. For the purpose of the consolidated financial statements 

of the Group, the management accounts of these companies were audited by PricewaterhouseCoopers Zhong Tian CPAs Limited Company.

@ Statutory year end is 31 December
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18. Property, plant and equipment

Leasehold
land and 
buildings

Leasehold
improvements

Plant and 
machinery

Furniture 
and fittings

Office
equipment Total

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

The Group

Cost

At 1 October 2008 40,603 3,852 107,331 3,509 4,558 159,853

Currency translation differences (121) - (214) (23) 11 (347)

Additions 1,340 - 3,454 316 237 5,347

Disposals - - (2,165) (21) (573) (2,759)

Reclassification - (9) - - 9 -

At 30 September 2009 41,822 3,843 108,406 3,781 4,242 162,094

Accumulated depreciation

At 1 October 2008 (9,844) (3,717) (55,374) (2,108) (3,061) (74,104)

Currency translation differences 44 - 216 21 (10) 271

Depreciation charge (1,290) (87) (8,370) (550) (535) (10,832)

Disposals - - 2,113 20 572 2,705

At 30 September 2009 (11,090) (3,804) (61,415) (2,617) (3,034) (81,960)

Net book value
At 30 September 2009 30,732 39 46,991 1,164 1,208 80,134

Cost

At 1 October 2007 35,626 3,843 92,356 3,091 3,914 138,830

Currency translation differences 709 - 1,612 13 63 2,397

Additions 4,268 9 13,741 410 590 19,018

Disposals - - (378) (5) (9) (392)

At 30 September 2008 40,603 3,852 107,331 3,509 4,558 159,853

Accumulated depreciation

At 1 October 2007 (7,365) (3,583) (47,716) (1,699) (2,514) (62,877)

Currency translation differences (244) - (720) (2) (39) (1,005)

Impairment charge (941) - - - - (941)

Depreciation charge (1,294) (134) (7,257) (412) (515) (9,612)

Disposals - - 319 5 7 331

At 30 September 2008 (9,844) (3,717) (55,374) (2,108) (3,061) (74,104)

Net book value
At 30 September 2008 30,759 135 51,957 1,401 1,497 85,749

The impairment charge in 2008 arose from the Group’s write down of a building in China as a result of the Group’s 

streamlining initiative to consolidate two production facilities into a single production site in May 2008. 
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18. Property, plant and equipment (continued)
Office

equipment Total
$’000 $’000

The Company 
Cost
At 1 October 2008 and 30 September 2009 9 9

Accumulated depreciation
At 1 October 2008 (4) (4)
Depreciation charge (2) (2)

At 30 September 2009 (6) (6)

Net book value
At 30 September 2009 3 3

Cost
At 1 October 2007 and 30 September 2008 9 9

Accumulated depreciation
At 1 October 2007 (3) (3)
Depreciation charge (1) (1)

At 30 September 2008 (4) (4)

Net book value
At 30 September 2008 5 5

19. Trade and other payables
The Group The Company

2009 2008 2009 2008

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Trade payables
- Related corporations 95 1,964 - -
- Non-related parties 30,952 38,184 - -

31,047 40,148 - -
Due to related corporations (non-trade) 193 193 193 193
Accrued operating expenses 6,150 8,881 348 344

37,390 49,222 541 537

The non-trade balances due to related corporations are unsecured, interest-free and repayable on demand.
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20. Borrowings (unsecured)

The Group

2009 2008

$’000 $’000

Current
Bank borrowings - 5,296

The exposure of the borrowings of the Group to interest rate changes and the contractual repricing dates at the balance 

sheet dates are as follows:

The Group

2009 2008

$’000 $’000

6 months or less - 5,296

The weighted average effective interest rates of borrowings at the balance sheet date were as follows:

The Group

2009 2008

Bank borrowings - 6.41%

21. Share capital and treasury shares 

No. of ordinary shares Amount
Issued share capital Treasury shares Share capital Treasury shares

’000 ’000 $’000 $’000

Group and Company 
2009
Beginning of financial year 660,431 - 71,124 -
Treasury shares purchased - (7,000) - (1,260)
End of financial year 660,431 (7,000) 71,124 (1,260)

2008
Beginning and end of financial year 660,431 - 71,124 -

All issued ordinary shares are fully paid.  There is no par value for these ordinary shares.

No options granted by the Company under the MFS Scheme were exercised during the financial year.
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21. Share capital and treasury shares (continued)

(a) Treasury shares

The Company acquired 7,000,000 shares in the Company through purchases on the Singapore Exchange during 

the financial year.  The total amount paid to acquire the shares was $1,260,000 and this was presented as a 

component within shareholders’ equity.

(b) Share options

The MFS Scheme in respect of unissued ordinary shares in the capital of the Company was approved by the 

members of the Company at an Extraordinary General Meeting on 28 December 2001.  The Remuneration 

Committee (“Committee”) administering the MFS Scheme comprises directors, Mr. Alexander Chan Meng Wah, 

Dr. Cham Tao Soon and Mr. Reggie Thein.  Share options are granted to directors and employees under the MFS 

Scheme.

The MFS Scheme shall continue to be in force at the discretion of the Committee, subject to maximum of 10 

years commencing with the year in which the first date of grant of an option that is accepted by a participant falls, 

provided always that the MFS Scheme may be continued for any further period or periods thereafter with the 

approval of the Company’s shareholders by ordinary resolution in general meeting and of any relevant authorities 

which may then be required.

Under the MFS Scheme, share options are granted to full-time confirmed employees of the Company or its 

subsidiaries who have been employed for at least 12 months prior to the date of grant of options (the “Date of 

Grant”) and who have attained the age of 21 years on or before the Date of Grant, and who are executives, and 

eligible directors.  An eligible director is either a Director who has been a full-time employee of the Company or any 

of its subsidiaries for at least 12 months prior to the Date of Grant and who performs an executive function, or a 

non-Executive Director (including an Independent Director) of the Company or any of its subsidiaries for at least 12 

months prior to the Date of Grant.

The aggregate nominal amount of shares over which options may be granted on any date, when added to the 

nominal amount of shares issued and issuable in respect of all options granted under the Scheme, shall not exceed 

10% of the issued share capital of the Company on the day preceding that date.

The exercise price of the granted options is equal to the average of the last dealt prices of the Company’s ordinary 

shares on the Singapore Exchange for the three consecutive market days immediately preceding the Date of 

Grant.

The options are vested one year after the Date of Grant.  Once the options are vested, they are exercisable for a 

contractual term of 9 years in the case of an executive (excluding non-executive Directors of the Company or any 

of its subsidiaries), and 4 years in the case of a non-executive Director of the Company or any of its subsidiaries.



70 MFS Technology Ltd

21. Share capital and treasury shares (continued)

(b) Share options (continued)

The persons to whom the options have been issued are not eligible to participate in other share option schemes 

implemented by the Company, its ultimate holding company, their respective subsidiaries or associated companies, 

except with the prior approval of the Committee in its absolute discretion.

During the financial year, no options were granted by the Company or any subsidiary. 

Movement in the number of share options on ordinary shares outstanding at the end of the financial year and their 

exercise prices were as follows:

  Financial year ended 30 September 2009

Date

of grant

Exercise

period

Exercise

price

Balance as at

1.10.2008

Share under 

option lapsed

Balance as at

30.9.2009

18.11.2004

18.11.2003 to $0.760 1,373,500 (26,000) 1,347,500

17.11.2013

19.5.2006

19.5.2005 to $0.585 2,472,750 (21,500) 2,451,250

18.5.2015

3,846,250 (47,500) 3,798,750

  Financial year ended 30 September 2008

Date

of grant

Exercise

period

Exercise

price

Balance as at

1.10.2007

Share under

option lapsed

Balance as at

30.9.2008

18.11.2004

18.11.2003 to $0.760 1,423,000 (49,500) 1,373,500

17.11.2013

19.5.2006

19.5.2005 to $0.585 2,630,750 (158,000) 2,472,750

18.5.2015

4,053,750 (207,500) 3,846,250



Annual Report 2009 71

21. Share capital and treasury shares (continued)

(b) Share options (continued)

The fair value of the options granted on 19 May 2005 determined using the Trinomial valuation model was 

$1,046,000. The significant inputs into the model were share price of $0.60 at the grant date, exercise price shown 

as above, standard deviation of expected share price returns of 38%, the option life shown above and annual risk 

free rate of 2%.  The volatility measured at the standard deviation of expected share price returns is based on 

statistical analysis of daily share price over the last one year from the date of grant.

Options granted to an executive director of the Company were as follows:

Name of director

Options granted for 

financial year ended

30.09.2009

Aggregate options

granted since 

commencement

of MFS Scheme to 

30.09.2009

Aggregate options 

exercised since 

commencement of 

MFS Scheme to

30.09.2009

Aggregate options 

outstanding as at

30.09.2009

Pang Tak Lim - 1,096,000 300,000 796,000

No options have been granted to controlling shareholders or their associates, ultimate holding group employees, 

and no employee has received 5% or more of the total options available under the scheme, except for options 

granted to an executive director as disclosed above.

No option has been granted at a discount during the financial year.

Except for the above, no other options were granted by the Company or any subsidiary during the financial year 

and there were no unissued shares of any subsidiary under option at the end of the financial year.

The closing price of MFS share as at 30 September 2009 was 25 cents, which is below the exercise prices of all 

outstanding options. 

Remuneration Committee (“RC”) engaged an external compensation consultant to review, design and recommend 

a longer term incentive program for the Group. The recommendation was for the termination of further option 

grants and to replace it with a Share Appreciation Rights Plan (“SAR”) and a Performance related Share Plan 

(“PSP”).

The proposals for the SAR and PSP has been established and approval for its implementation was obtained from 

shareholders at the extraordinary general meeting held on 30 July 2008. 

As at 30 September 2009, no grant under the Company’s SAR and PSP has been made.
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22. Other reserves

The Group The Company

2009 2008 2009 2008

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

(a) Composition:
  Share option reserve 1,028 1,028 1,028 1,028
  Other reserve 2,983 2,983 - -

4,011 4,011 1,028 1,028

(b) Movements:
(i) Share option reserve

   Beginning and end of financial year 1,028 1,028 1,028 1,028

(ii) Other reserve
   Beginning of financial year 2,983 1,749 - -
   Transfer from retained earnings - 1,234 - -

   End of financial year 2,983 2,983 - -

The other reserve relates to appropriation of funds from the net profit of the subsidiaries established in the People’s 

Republic of China (“PRC”).  In accordance with the PRC laws, all foreign-owned subsidiaries are required to appropriate 

an amount from the net profit reported in the statutory accounts to the two statutory reserves namely the reserve fund 

and the enterprise expansion fund which are designated for specific purposes.

The reserve fund can only be utilised, with the approval from the relevant authorities to offset accumulated deficits or to 

increase registered capital.  All foreign-owned enterprises are generally required to appropriate not less than 10% of their 

profit after taxation to the reserve fund, until the balance of the fund reaches 50% of the registered capital.  The reserve 

fund cannot be distributed in the form of cash.

The enterprise expansion fund can be utilised to increase registered capital, with the approval from the relevant authorities.  

The amount of appropriation is to be determined by the board of directors of the enterprise.

Share option and other reserves are non-distributable.
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23. Retained earnings

Movement in retained earnings for the Company is as follows:

The Company

2009 2008

$’000 $’000

Beginning of financial year 74 519

Net profit 2,965 6,159

Dividends paid (Note 24) (3,267) (6,604)

End of financial year (228) 74

Retained earnings are distributable.

24. Dividends

Ordinary dividends paid

The Group

2009 2008

$’000 $’000

Final exempt dividend paid in respect of financial year ended 

   30 September 2008 of 0.5 cent per ordinary share 3,267 -

Final exempt dividend paid in respect of financial year ended 

   30 September 2007 of 1.0 cent per ordinary share - 6,604
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25. Holding and ultimate holding companies

The Company’s holding company is Wearnes Technology (Private) Limited, incorporated in Singapore.  The ultimate 

holding company is WBL Corporation Limited, also incorporated in Singapore.

26. Contingent liabilities

Details and estimates of maximum amounts of contingent liabilities are as follows: 

The Group

2009 2008

$’000 $’000

Guarantees:

Security bond for recruitment of foreign workers 130 325

27. Commitments for expenditure

(a) Capital commitments

The Group

2009 2008

$’000 $’000

Expenditure for property, plant and equipment:

Contracted for 1,321 2,401

Approved by the directors but not contracted for 12,455 9,062

13,776 11,463
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27. Commitments for expenditure (continued)

(b) Operating lease commitments

The Group leases land from non-related parties under non-cancellable operating lease agreements.  The future aggregate 

minimum lease payments under non-cancellable operating leases contracted for at the balance sheet date but not 

recognised as liabilities, are as follows:

The Group

2009 2008

$’000 $’000

Not later than one year 129 129

Between one and five years 518 518

Later than five years 5,398 5,528

6,045 6,175

28. Financial risk management

Financial risk factors

The Group’s activities expose it to market risk (including currency risk, interest rate risk and price risk), credit risk and 

liquidity risk.  The Group’s overall risk management strategy seeks to minimise adverse effects from the unpredictability of 

financial markets on the Group’s financial performance.  The Group uses financial instruments such as currency forwards 

and foreign currency borrowings to hedge certain financial risk exposures.  

The Board of Directors is responsible for setting the objectives and underlying principles of financial risk management 

for the Group. The management then establishes the detailed policies such as authority levels, oversight responsibilities, 

risk identification and measurement, exposure limits and hedging strategies, in accordance with the objectives and 

underlying principles approved by the Board of Directors.

(a) Market risk

(i) Currency risk

The Group’s dominant operations are in Singapore, the People’s Republic of China and Malaysia. Entities in the 

Group regularly transact in currencies other than their respective functional currencies (“foreign currencies”).

Currency risk arises within entities in the Group when transactions are denominated in foreign currencies such 

as United States Dollar (“USD”). To manage the currency risk, the individual Group entities enter into currency 

forwards with financial institutions. 
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28. Financial risk management (continued)

(a) Market risk (continued)

(i) Currency risk (continued)

The Group’s risk management policy is to hedge between 75% and 125% of the individual Group entities net 

monetary asset (“NMA”) exposure. 

The Group’s currency exposure based on the information provided to key management is as follows:

SGD USD RMB MYR Other Total

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

At 30 September 2009

Financial assets

Cash and cash equivalents 23,266 8,054 388 1,345 307 33,360

Trade and other receivables 332 32,515 4,035 30 2,400 39,312

23,598 40,569 4,423 1,375 2,707 72,672

Financial liabilities

Trade and other payables   (2,713) (17,319) (14,202) (2,226) (930) (37,390)

Net financial assets/(liabilities) 20,885 23,250 (9,779) (851) 1,777 35,282

Less: Net financial liabilities/

   (assets) denominated in the 

   respective entities’ functional 

   currencies (22,151) - 9,782 851 - (11,518)

Less: Currency forwards - (24,086) - - - (24,086)

Currency exposure on financial

   assets and liabilities (1,266) (836) 3 - 1,777 (322)
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28. Financial risk management (continued)

(a) Market risk (continued)

(i) Currency risk (continued)

SGD USD RMB MYR Other Total

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

At 30 September 2008

Financial assets

Cash and cash equivalents 32,355 8,861 417 446 355 42,434

Trade and other receivables 222 47,597 9,226 106 2,388 59,539

32,577 56,458 9,643 552 2,743 101,973

Financial liabilities

Trade and other payables (4,514) (20,538) (20,747) (2,289) (1,134) (49,222)

Borrowings - (5,296) - - - (5,296)

(4,514) (25,834) (20,747) (2,289) (1,134) (54,518)

Net financial assets/(liabilities) 28,063 30,624 (11,104) (1,737) 1,609 47,455

Less: Net financial liabilities/

   (assets) denominated in the 

   respective entities’ functional 

   currencies (28,813) - 11,014 1,737 - (16,062)

Less: Currency forwards - (24,268) - - - (24,268)

Currency exposure on financial

   assets and liabilities (750) 6,356 (90) - 1,609 7,125
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28. Financial risk management (continued)

(a) Market risk (continued)

(i) Currency risk (continued)

If the USD change against the SGD by 10% (2008: 10%) and all other variables including tax rate being held 

constant, the effects arising from the net financial liability/asset position will be as follows:

2009 2008

Increase/(decrease) 

Profit

after tax Equity

Profit 

after tax Equity

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

The Group

USD against SGD

- strengthened (84) (84) 636 636

- weakened 84 84 (636) (636)

(ii) Price risk

The Group is not exposed to equity price risk as it does not hold any equity financial assets.

(iii) Interest rate risks

Cash flow interest rate risk is the risk that the future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of the 

changes in market interest rates. Fair value interest rate risk is the risk that the fair value of a financial instrument will 

fluctuate due to changes in market interest rates. As the Group has no significant interest-bearing assets except 

for short-term bank deposits as disclosed in Note 12, the Group’s income is substantially independent of changes 

in market interest rates. 

The Group’s exposure to cash flow interest rate risks arises mainly from variable-rate borrowings. The Group 

monitors the interest rate on borrowings closely to ensure that the borrowings are maintained at favourable rates.  

Where necessary, the Group will use derivative financial instruments to hedge the interest rate risks or to convert 

borrowings from variable rates to fixed rates.  As the Group has no significant interest bearing liabilities except as 

disclosed in Note 20, the Group’s expense is substantially independent of changes in market interest rates.
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28. Financial risk management (continued)

(b) Credit risk

Credit risk refers to the risk that a counterparty will default on its contractual obligations resulting in financial loss to the 

Group. The major classes of financial assets of the Group and of the Company are bank deposits and trade receivables. 

For trade receivables, the Group adopts the policy of dealing only with customers of appropriate credit history, and 

obtaining sufficient collateral where appropriate to mitigate credit risk. For other financial assets, the Group adopts the 

policy of dealing only with high credit quality counterparties.

Credit exposure to an individual counterparty is restricted by credit limits that are approved by management based on 

ongoing credit evaluation. The counterparty’s payment profile and credit exposure are continuously monitored at the 

entity level by the respective management and at the Group level.

As the Group and the Company do not hold any collateral, the maximum exposure to credit risk for each class of financial 

instruments is the carrying amount of that class of financial instruments presented on the balance sheet.

The credit risk for trade receivables based on the information provided to key management is as follows:

The Group The Company

2009 2008 2009 2008

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

By geographical areas
Singapore 5,022 11,943 30,374 29,481
People’s Republic of China 21,161 31,123 226 154
Malaysia 1,964 1,800 - -
USA 3,113 3,689 - -
Other Asia Pacific countries 2,008 5,376 - -
Other countries 6,044 5,608 - -

By types of customers
Related parties 590 4,479 30,579 29,597
Non-related parties 38,722 55,060 21 38

(i) Financial assets that are neither past due nor impaired

Bank deposits that are neither past due nor impaired are mainly deposits with banks with high credit-ratings 

assigned by international credit-rating agencies. Trade receivables that are neither past due nor impaired are 

substantially companies with a good collection track record with the Group.
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28. Financial risk management (continued)

(b) Credit risk (continued)

(ii) Financial assets that are past due and/or impaired (continued)

There is no other class of financial assets that is past due and/or impaired except for trade receivables.

The age analysis of trade receivables past due but not impaired is as follows:

The Group

2009 2008

$’000 $’000

  Past due 1 to 30 days 3,176 7,179

  Past due 31 to 90 days 1,072 2,069

  Past due over 90 days 505 513

4,753 9,761

The carrying amount of trade receivables individually determined to be impaired and the movement in the related 

allowance for impairment are as follows:

The Group

2009 2008

$’000 $’000

  Gross amount 492 541

  Less: Allowance for impairment (492) (541)

- -

  Beginning of financial year (541) (324)

  Currency translation difference 2 (2)

  Allowance made (179) (541)

  Allowance written-back 170 326

  Allowance utilised 56 -

  End of financial year (492) (541)

The impaired trade receivables arise mainly from sales to customers which had suffered significant losses in 

their operations. Although certain goods sold to these customers can be re-possessed, it is uncertain that these 

customers are still in possession of those goods.
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28. Financial risk management (continued)

(c) Liquidity risk

The Group and the Company manage the liquidity risk by maintaining sufficient cash to enable them to meet their normal 

operating commitments.

The table below analyses the maturity profile of the financial liabilities (including derivative financial liabilities) of the Group 

and the Company based on contractual undiscounted cash flows. 

   6 months 

   or less

   $’000

The Group

At 30 September 2009

Net-settled currency forwards

- Payments (21)

Trade and other payables (37,390)

(37,411)

At 30 September 2008

Net-settled currency forwards

- Payments (46)

Trade and other payables (49,222)

Borrowings (5,380)

   (54,648)

The Company

At 30 September 2009

Trade and other payables (541)

At 30 September 2008

Trade and other payables (537)
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28. Financial risk management (continued)

(d) Capital risk

The Group’s objectives when managing capital are to safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern and 

to maintain an optimal capital structure so as to maximise shareholder value. In order to maintain or achieve an optimal 

capital structure, the Group may adjust the amount of dividend payment, return capital to shareholders, issue new 

shares, buy back issued shares, obtain new borrowings or sell assets to reduce borrowings. 

Management monitors capital based on gearing ratio. The gearing ratio is calculated as net debt divided by total capital.  

Net debt is calculated as borrowings plus trade and other payables less cash and cash equivalents.  Total capital is 

calculated as equity plus net debt.

The Group

2009 2008

$’000 $’000

Net debt 4,030 12,084

Total equity 143,895 161,949

Total capital 147,925 174,033

Gearing ratio 2.7% 6.9%

29. Related party transactions

In addition to the information disclosed elsewhere in the financial statements, the following transactions took place 

between the Group and related parties at terms agreed between the parties:

(a) Sales and purchases of goods and services

The Group

2009 2008

$’000 $’000

Sales to fellow subsidiaries 7,592 12,816

Purchase of inventories from a fellow subsidiary 1,146 3,392

Subcontract services rendered by a fellow subsidiary 66 2,641

Management fees charged by a fellow subsidiary 180 180

Commission expenses charged by a fellow subsidiary 99 143

Outstanding balances at 30 September 2009, arising from sale/purchase of goods and services, are set out in Notes 13 

and 19 respectively.
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29. Related party transactions (continued)

(b) Key management personnel compensation

Key management personnel compensation is as follows:

The Group

2009 2008

$’000 $’000

Directors’ fees 289 282

Wages and salaries 1,075 1,064

Employer’s contribution to defined contribution plans, 

including Central Provident Fund 18 20

Other employment benefits 68 68

1,450 1,434

Included in the above is total compensation to directors of the Company amounting to $809,000 (2008: $801,000).

The banding of directors’ remuneration is disclosed in Note 8.

30. Segment information

Primary reporting format - business segments

Flexible Printed

circuit boards printed circuits The Group

$’000 $’000 $’000

Year ended 30 September 2009

Sales 97,520 38,515 136,035

Segment results (13,084) (1,900) (14,984)

Management fee expense (180)

Finance expense (159)

Loss before income tax (15,323)

Income tax credit 1,846

Total loss (13,477)
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30. Segment information (continued)

Primary reporting format - business segments (continued)

Flexible Printed

circuit boards printed circuits The Group

$’000 $’000 $’000

Year ended 30 September 2009 (continued)

Other segment items
Capital expenditure 3,583 1,764 5,347
Depreciation charge 7,249 3,583 10,832

Segment assets 120,107 58,562 178,669
Unallocated assets 2,616

Consolidated total assets 181,285

Segment liabilities (27,459) (9,931) (37,390)
Unallocated liabilities -

Consolidated total liabilities (37,390)

Year ended 30 September 2008

Sales 150,066 66,734 216,800

Segment results (12,786) 2,930 (9,856)
Management fee expense (180)
Finance expense (158)

Loss before income tax (10,194)
Income tax credit 168

Total loss (10,026)

Other segment items
Capital expenditure 11,246 7,772 19,018
Impairment charge - 941 941
Depreciation charge 6,590 3,022 9,612

  
Segment assets 147,804 67,401 215,205
Unallocated assets 2,885

Consolidated total assets 218,090

Segment liabilities (29,454) (19,780) (49,234)
Unallocated liabilities (6,907)

Consolidated total liabilities (56,141)
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30. Segment information (continued)

The Group is organised into two main business segments:

- Flexible printed circuits

- Printed circuit boards

There are no sales or other transactions between the business segments. Segment assets consist primarily property, 

plant and equipment, inventories, receivables and operating cash, and exclude tax recoverable.  Segment liabilities 

comprise operating liabilities and exclude items such as deferred tax liabilities and borrowings. Capital expenditure 

comprises additions to property, plant and equipment.

Secondary reporting format - geographical segments

The Group’s two business segments operate in three main geographical areas:

The Company is headquartered in Singapore and it is an investment holding company.  The areas of operation are 

principally investment holding, design, manufacture and distribution of flexible printed circuits, and other operations of 

the Group.

Malaysia - the areas of operation are mainly design, manufacture and distribution of flexible printed circuits activities.

China - the main activities are design, manufacture and distribution of printed circuit boards.

Sales revenue is based on the country in which the customer is located.  Total assets and capital expenditure are shown 

by the geographical area in which the assets are located.

Sales Total assets Capital expenditure

2009 2008 2009 2008 2009 2008

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

United States of America 7,742 9,873 - - - -

Europe 9,184 17,160 - - - -

Singapore 6,806 14,438 74,464 99,987 317 2,876

Malaysia 8,508 7,316 23,347 23,145 2,014 3,728

China 87,180 149,037 83,474 94,958 3,016 12,414

Taiwan 5,647 10,035 - - - -

Other Asia Pacific countries 10,968 8,941 - - - -

136,035 216,800 181,285 218,090 5,347 19,018
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30. Segment information (continued)

Sales revenue based on geographical area in which the assets are located are as follows:

Sales

2009 2008

$’000 $’000

Singapore 97,520 150,066

China 38,515 66,734

136,035 216,800

31. New or revised accounting standards and interpretations

Certain new standards, amendments and interpretations to existing standards have been published and are mandatory 

for Group’s accounting periods beginning on or after 1 October 2009 or later periods and which the Group has not early 

adopted. The Group’s assessment of the impact of adopting those standards, amendments and interpretations that are 

relevant to the Group is set out below:  

(a) FRS 1(R) Presentation of Financial Statements (effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2009)

The revised standard requires:

in a single statement of comprehensive income with subtotals, or in two separate statements (a separate 

restatements or reclassifications of comparative information.

The revisions also include changes in the titles of some of the financial statements primary statements.

The Group will apply the revised standard from 1 October 2009 and provide comparative information that conforms 

to the requirements of the revised standard. The key impact of the application of the revised standard is the 

presentation of an additional primary statement, that is, the statement of comprehensive income.
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31. New or revised accounting standards and interpretations (continued)

(b) FRS 108 Operating Segments (effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2009)

FRS 108 supersedes FRS 14 Segment Reporting and requires the Group to report the financial performance of its 

operating segments based on the information used internally by management for evaluating segment performance 

and deciding on allocation of resources. Such information may be different from the information included in the 

financial statements, and the basis of its preparation and reconciliation to the amounts recognised in the financial 

statements shall be disclosed.

The Group will apply FRS 108 from 1 October 2009 and provide comparative information that conforms to the 

requirements of FRS 108. The Group expects no significant differences on the business segments currently 

disclosed.

(c) Revised FRS 23 Borrowing Costs (effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2009)

The revised standard removes the option to recognise immediately as an expense borrowing costs that are 

attributable to qualifying assets, except for those borrowing costs on qualifying assets that are measured at fair 

value or inventories that are manufactured or produced in large quantities on a repetitive basis.

The Group will apply the revised FRS 23 from 1 October 2009.  The revised standard is not expected to have any 

material impact to the Group.

(d) Amendments to FRS 107 Improving Disclosures about Financial Instruments (effective for annual periods beginning 

on or after 1 January 2009)

The amendment increases the disclosure requirements about fair value measurement and reinforces existing 

principles for disclosure about liquidity risk.  The amendment introduces a three-level hierarchy for fair value 

measurement disclosure and requires some specific quantitative disclosures for financial instruments in the lowest 

level in the hierarchy.  In addition, the amendments clarify and enhance the existing requirements for the disclosure 

of liquidity risk.  This is aimed at ensuring that the information disclosed enables users of an entity’s financial 

statements to evaluate the nature and extent of liquidity risk arising from financial instruments and how the entity 

manages that risk.  The Group will apply the amendments to FRS 107 from 1 October 2009.

32. Authorisation of financial statements

The financial statements were authorised for issue in accordance with a resolution of the Board of Directors of MFS 

Technology Ltd on 19 November 2009.
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STATISTICS OF SHAREHOLDINGS
As at 11 December 2009

SHARE CAPITAL
No. of issued shares :  660,430,497

No. of issued shares (excluding Treasury Shares) :  653,430,497 

No./Percentage of Treasury Shares :  7,000,000 (1.07%)

Class of Shares :  Ordinary Shares

Voting Rights (excluding Treasury Shares) :  One vote per share

DISTRIBUTION OF SHAREHOLDINGS

Size of Shareholdings Number of Shareholders % Number of Shares %

1 - 999 59 4.35 27,247 0.00

1,000 - 10,000 565 41.67 3,573,304 0.55

10,001 - 1,000,000 714 52.65 49,685,446 7.60

1,000,001 and above 18 1.33 600,144,500 91.85

TOTAL 1,356 100.00 653,430,497 100.00

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS
(As recorded in the Register of Substantial Shareholders)

Number of Shares

Direct Interest % (2)

Number of Shares

Deemed Interest % (2)

Wearnes Technology (Private) Limited (“WT”) 505,128,000 77.30 - -

WBL Corporation Limited (“WBL”) (1) - - 505,128,000 77.30

Notes:
(1) WBL is deemed to be interested in all the shares held by its subsidiary, WT.

(2) Percentage shareholding is based on issued share capital as at 11 December 2009 (excluding treasury shares).
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TWENTY LARGEST SHAREHOLDERS

No. Name of Shareholders Number of Shares %

1. WEARNES TECHNOLOGY (PRIVATE) LIMITED 505,128,000 77.30

2. UNITED ENGINEERS (SINGAPORE) PTE LTD 31,067,000 4.75

3. CAPITAL INTELLIGENCE LIMITED  15,499,000 2.37

4. PANG TAK LIM 8,113,500 1.24

5. PHILLIP SECURITIES PTE LTD 6,637,500 1.02

6. OVERSEA CHINESE BANK NOMINEES PTE LTD 5,714,000 0.87

7. OCBC SECURITIES PRIVATE LTD 5,459,500 0.84

8. UOB KAY HIAN PTE LTD 3,444,500 0.53

9. PANG KIM GUAT 3,000,000 0.46

10. QUEK HUNG HEONG 2,831,000 0.43

11. GERKE GERWIN FRIEDRICH BEREND 2,399,500 0.37

12. KAR BOON CHWEE 2,037,000 0.31

13. CHOO TECK LEONG 1,844,000 0.28

14. UNITED OVERSEAS BANK NOMINEES (PTE) LTD 1,661,000 0.25

15. CHAN CHEE WENG 1,541,000 0.24

16. CHU MENG CHEE 1,448,000 0.22

17. GOH GUAN HONG 1,202,000 0.18

18. KIM ENG SECURITIES PTE. LTD.  1,118,000 0.17

19. CITIBANK CONSUMER NOMINEES PTE LTD 997,500 0.15

20. DBS NOMINEES PTE LTD 890,500 0.14

TOTAL 602,032,500 92.12

PERCENTAGE OF SHAREHOLDING IN PUBLIC’S HANDS

Approximately, 21.30% of the Company’s shares (excluding treasury shares) are held in the hands of the Public. Accordingly, 

the Company has complied with Rule 723 of the Listing Manual of the SGX-ST.
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NOTICE OF ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING

NOTICE IS HEREBY GIVEN that the Ninth Annual General Meeting of the Company will be held at 22 Tuas Avenue 8, 

Singapore 639237 on Monday, 25 January 2010, at 11:30 a.m. for the following businesses:

Ordinary Business

1. To receive and to adopt the Directors’ Report and Audited Accounts for the financial year ended 30 September 2009.

 (Resolution 1)

2. To re-elect the following Directors retiring pursuant to Article 96 of the Company’s Articles of Association [See Explanatory 

Note (I)]:

a. Mr. Pang Tak Lim (Resolution 2a)

b. Mr. Reggie Thein (Resolution 2b)

3. To re-elect Dr. Lim Huat Seng retiring pursuant to Article 100 of the Company’s Articles of Association [See Explanatory 

Note (II)]: (Resolution 3)

4. To re-appoint Dr. Cham Tao Soon pursuant to Section 153(6) of the Companies Act, Chapter 50 (the “Companies Act”),

to hold office from the date of this Annual General Meeting until the next Annual General Meeting. [See Explanatory Note 

(III)] (Resolution 4)

5. To approve the payment of Directors’ fees of S$289,333 for the year ended 30 September 2009 (2008: S$281,500).

(Resolution 5)

6. To re-appoint Messrs PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP as the Company’s Auditors and to authorise the Directors to fix their 

remuneration.   (Resolution 6)

Special Business

7. Authority to allot and issue new Shares 

To consider and if thought fit, to pass with or without modifications, the following resolution which will be proposed as an 

Ordinary Resolution:

“That pursuant to Section 161 of the Companies Act and the listing rules of the Singapore Exchange Securities Trading 

Limited (the “SGX-ST”), authority be and is hereby given to the Directors of the Company to:

(a) (i)  issue shares in the capital of the Company (“Shares

(ii)   make or grant offers, agreements or options (collectively, “Instruments”) that might or would require Shares 

to be issued, including but not limited to the creation and issue of (as well as adjustments to) options, 

warrants, debentures or other instruments convertible into Shares,
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at any time and upon such terms and conditions and for such purposes and to such persons as the Directors may 

(b) (notwithstanding the authority conferred by this Resolution may have ceased to be in force) issue Shares in 

pursuance of any Instrument made or granted by the Directors while this Resolution was in force, 

provided that:

(1) the aggregate number of Shares to be issued pursuant to this Resolution (including Shares to be issued in 

pursuance of Instruments made or granted pursuant to this Resolution) does not exceed 50 per cent. of the total 

number of issued Shares (excluding treasury shares) in the capital of the Company (as calculated in accordance 

with sub-paragraph (2) below), of which the aggregate number of Shares to be issued other than on a pro rata

basis to existing shareholders of the Company (including Shares to be issued in pursuance of Instruments made or 

granted pursuant to this Resolution) does not exceed 20 per cent. of the total number of issued Shares (excluding 

(2) (subject to such manner of calculation as may be prescribed by the SGX-ST) for the purpose of determining the 

aggregate number of Shares that may be issued under sub-paragraph (1) above, the percentage of issued Shares 

shall be based on the total number of issued Shares (excluding treasury shares) in the capital of the Company at 

the time this Resolution is passed, after adjusting for:

(i) new Shares arising from the conversion or exercise of any convertible securities or share options or vesting 

(3) in exercising the authority conferred by this Resolution, the Company shall comply with the provisions of the Listing 

Manual of the SGX-ST for the time being in force (unless such compliance has been waived by the SGX-ST) and 

(4) (unless revoked or varied by the Company in general meeting) the authority conferred by this Resolution shall 

continue in force until the conclusion of the next Annual General Meeting of the Company or the date by which 

the next Annual General Meeting of the Company is required by law to be held, whichever is the earlier. [See 

Explanatory Note IV)]” (Resolution 7)

8. Authority to grant options and awards 

To consider and if thought fit, to pass with or without modifications, the following resolution which will be proposed as an 

Ordinary Resolution:

“That authority be and is hereby given to the Directors of the Company to:
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(a) offer and grant options in accordance with the provisions of the MFS Share Option Scheme and/or grant awards 

in accordance with the provisions of the MFS Performance Share Plan and/or the MFS Share Appreciation Rights 

Plan (collectively, the “Share Plans

(b) allot and issue from time to time such number of Shares in the Capital of the Company as may be required to be 

issued pursuant to the exercise of options granted and/or vesting of awards under the Share Plans,

provided that the aggregate number of Shares to be allotted and issued pursuant to the Share Plans shall not exceed 

10 per cent. of the total number of issued Shares (excluding treasury shares) in the capital of the Company from time to 

time.” [See Explanatory Note (V)] (Resolution 8)

9. Renewal of Shareholders’ Mandate for Interested Person Transactions 

To consider and if thought fit, to pass with or without modifications, the following resolution which will be proposed as an 

Ordinary Resolution:

“That for the purposes of Chapter 9 of the Listing Manual of the SGX-ST (“Chapter 9”):

(a) approval be and is hereby given, for the Company and its subsidiaries, or any of them to enter into any of the 

transactions falling within the types of interested person transactions described in the Appendix to the Annual 

Report to shareholders dated 5 January 2010 (the “Appendix”) with any party who is of the class of interested 

persons as described in the Appendix, provided that such transactions are made at arm’s length and on normal 

commercial terms and in accordance with the review procedures of the Company for such interested person 

transactions (the “Shareholders’ Mandate

(b) the Shareholders’ Mandate shall, unless revoked or varied by the Company in general meeting, continue in force 

until the conclusion of the next Annual General Meeting of the Company or the date by which the next Annual 

(c) the Directors be and are hereby authorised to complete and do all such acts and things (including executing all 

such documents as may be required) as they may consider necessary, desirable or expedient to give effect to the 

Shareholders’ Mandate and/or this Resolution.” [See Explanatory Note (VI)] (Resolution 9)

10. Renewal of Share Purchase Mandate

To consider and if thought fit, to pass with or without modifications, the following resolution which will be proposed as an 

Ordinary Resolution:

“That:

(a) for the purposes of Sections 76C and 76E of the Companies Act, the exercise by the Directors of the Company 

of all the powers of the Company to purchase or otherwise acquire issued Shares not exceeding in aggregate 
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the Maximum Limit (as hereafter defined), at such price or prices as may be determined by the Directors of the 

Company from time to time up to the Maximum Price (as hereafter defined), whether by way of:

(i) market purchase(s) transacted on the SGX-ST through the SGX-ST’s trading system or any other stock 

exchange on which the Shares may for the time being be listed and quoted (“Other Exchange

(ii) off-market purchase(s) (if effected otherwise than on the SGX-ST) in accordance with any equal access 

scheme(s) as may be determined or formulated by the Directors as they consider fit, which scheme(s) shall 

and otherwise in accordance with all other laws and regulations and rules of the SGX-ST as the case may be, 

Other Exchange, as may for the time being be applicable, be and is hereby authorised and approved generally and 

unconditionally (the “Share Purchase Mandate

(b) unless varied or revoked by the Company in general meeting, the authority conferred on the Directors of the 

Company pursuant to the Share Purchase Mandate may be exercised by the Directors of the Company at any time 

and from time to time during the period commencing from the date of the passing of this Resolution and expiring 

on the earlier of:

(iii) the date on which the purchases or acquisitions of Shares pursuant to the Share Purchase Mandate are 

(iv) the date on which the authority conferred by the Share Purchase Mandate is revoked or varied.

(c) in this Resolution:

“Maximum Limit” means that number of Shares representing 10 per cent. of the total number of the issued 

“Maximum Price” in relation to a Share to be purchased or acquired, means the purchase price (excluding 

brokerage, commission, applicable goods and services tax and other related expenses) which shall not exceed:

(ii) in the case of an off-market purchase of a Share pursuant to an equal access scheme, 110 per cent. of the 

Average Closing Price of the Shares, 
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where:

“Average Closing Price” means the average of the closing market prices of a Share over the last five market 

days, on which transactions in the Shares on the SGX-ST or, as the case may be, Other Exchange were recorded, 

immediately preceding the date of the market purchase by the Company or, as the case may be, the date of 

making of the offer pursuant to the off-market purchase, and deemed to be adjusted, in accordance with the 

“date of the making of the offer” means the date on which the Company announces its intention to make an 

offer for the purchase or acquisition of Shares from holders of Shares stating therein the purchase price (which shall 

not be more than the Maximum Price calculated on the foregoing basis) for each Share and the relevant terms of 

“market day

(d) the Directors of the Company and/or any of them be and are hereby authorised to complete and do all such acts 

and things (including executing such documents as may be required) as they and/or he may consider expedient or 

necessary to give effect to the transactions contemplated and/or authorised by this Resolution.” [See Explanatory 

Note (VII)] (Resolution 10)

11. To transact any other business that may properly be transacted at an Annual General Meeting.

By Order of the Board

Peter Tan and Lynn Wan Tiew Leng

Company Secretaries

5 January 2010

Notes:

1. A member entitled to attend and vote at the Annual General Meeting is entitled to appoint a proxy to attend and vote on 

his behalf. A proxy need not be a member of the Company.

2. The instrument appointing a proxy must be deposited at 22 Tuas Avenue 8, Singapore 639237 not less than 48 hours 

before the time appointed for holding the Annual General Meeting.

3. The Company may purchase or acquire its own Shares out of capital, as well as from its profits. The Company intends to 

use its internal sources of funds to finance its purchase or acquisition of the Shares. The Company does not intend to obtain 

or incur any borrowings to finance its purchase or acquisition of the Shares. However, in the event these funds are depleted 

for working capital or investment purposes, the Company may consider external borrowings to finance the purchase and 

acquisition of Shares if the Directors are of the view that it will be beneficial to the Company to do so provided that such 

borrowings shall not be prohibited by the Articles of Association of the Company and the Companies Act.
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Based on the existing number of issued Shares as at 11 December 2009 (the “Latest Practicable Date”) and excluding 

any Shares held in treasury, the purchase by the Company of 10 per cent. of its issued Shares will result in the purchase 

or acquisition of 65,343,049 Shares.

In the case of market purchases by the Company and assuming that the Company purchases or acquires the 65,343,049 

Shares at the Maximum Price of S$0.2625 for one Share (being the price equivalent to 105 per cent. of the average of 

the closing market prices of the Shares for the five consecutive market days on which the Shares were traded on the 

SGX-ST immediately preceding the Latest Practicable Date), the maximum amount of funds required for the purchase or 

acquisition of the 65,343,049 Shares is S$17,152,550.36.

In the case of off-market purchases by the Company and assuming that the Company purchases or acquires the 

65,343,049 Shares at the Maximum Price of S$0.275 for one Share (being the price equivalent to 110 per cent. of the 

average of the closing market prices of the Shares for the five consecutive market days on which the Shares were traded 

on the SGX-ST immediately preceding the Latest Practicable Date), the maximum amount of funds required for the 

purchase or acquisition of the 65,343,049 Shares is S$17,969,338.48.

The financial effects of the purchase or acquisition of such Shares by the Company pursuant to the proposed renewal 

of the Share Purchase Mandate on the audited financial statements of the Company and the Group for the financial year 

ended 30 September 2009 based on certain assumptions, are set out in paragraph 3 of the Appendix, which is enclosed 

together with the Company’s Annual Report.
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Additional information relating to items of ordinary and special business:

Explanatory Notes:

(I) Mr. Pang Tak Lim, if re-elected, will remain as the Managing Director and the only executive member of the Board. 

Mr. Reggie Thein, if re-elected, will remain as the Chairman of the Audit Committee and a member of the Remuneration 

Committee. He is considered independent for the purpose of Rule 704(8) of the Listing Manual of the Singapore Exchange 

Securities Trading Limited.

(II) Dr. Lim Huat Seng, if re-appointed, will remain a non-executive member of the Board. 

(III) Dr. Cham Tao Soon, if re-elected, will remain as the Chairman of the Board, a member of the Nominating Committee and 

a member of the Remuneration Committee.

(IV) The Ordinary Resolution proposed in item 7 above, if passed, will authorise the Directors from the date of this Annual 

General Meeting until the next Annual General Meeting, to issue Shares in the Company and/or make or grant Instruments, 

during the validity period of this Resolution, and to issue Shares in pursuance of such Instruments subject to specified 

limits.

(V) The Ordinary Resolution proposed in item 8 above, if passed, will empower the Directors to offer and grant awards, 

and to allot and issue new Shares pursuant to the exercise of options or vesting of awards under the Share Plans. 

The MFS Performance Share Plan and the MFS Share Appreciation Rights Plan were approved by shareholders at the 

Extraordinary General Meeting held on 30 July 2008. The grant of awards under the MFS Performance Share Plan and/

or the MFS Share Appreciation Rights Plan will be made in accordance with their respective provisions. The aggregate 

number of new Shares which may be issued pursuant to the Share Plans shall not exceed 10 per cent. of the total 

number of issued Shares (excluding treasury shares) in the capital of the Company from time to time.

(VI) The Ordinary Resolution proposed in item 9 above, if passed, will renew the mandate to permit the Company and its 

subsidiaries, or any of them, for the purposes of Chapter 9, to enter into certain interested person transactions with the 

interested persons as described in the Appendix to the Annual Report. 

(VII) The Ordinary Resolution proposed in item 10 above, if passed, will renew the mandate to permit the Company to 

purchase or acquire issued Shares in the capital of the Company on the terms and subject to the conditions of the 

Resolution.
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MFS TECHNOLOGY LTD

(Incorporated in the Republic of Singapore)

Company Registration Number: 200009562R

APPENDIX IN RELATION TO DETAILS OF THE PROPOSED RENEWAL OF:

(2) THE SHARE PURCHASE MANDATE

5 January 2010

This Appendix is circulated to Shareholders of MFS Technology Ltd (the “Company”) together with the Company’s annual 

report. Its purpose is to provide Shareholders with the relevant information relating to, and to seek Shareholders’ approval for, 

the renewal of the Shareholders’ Mandate for Interested Person Transactions and the Share Purchase Mandate to be tabled at 

the Annual General Meeting to be held on Monday, 25 January 2010 at 11.30 a.m. at 22 Tuas Avenue 8, Singapore 639237.

The Notice of Annual General Meeting and a Proxy Form are enclosed with the Company’s annual report. The Singapore 

Exchange Securities Trading Limited takes no responsibility for the correctness of any of the statements made, reports 

contained/referred to, or opinions expressed, in this Appendix.
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In this appendix (“Appendix”), the following definitions apply throughout unless otherwise stated: 

“2008 EGM” : The extraordinary general meeting of the Company held on 30 July 2008

“2008 Circular” : Company’s circular to Shareholders dated 8 July 2008

“AGM” : The annual general meeting of the Company to be convened on 25 January 2010

“Audit Committee” : Audit committee of the Company as at the Latest Practicable Date comprising Mr. Reggie Thein,

Mr. Sin Boon Ann and Mr. Wong Hein Jee, Lester

“Award” : A contingent award of Shares granted under the MFS performance share plan or an award of hare 

appreciation rights granted under the MFS share appreciation rights plan, as the case may be

“CDP” : The Central Depository (Pte) Limited

“Companies Act” : Companies Act, Chapter 50 of Singapore 

“Company” or “MFS” : MFS Technology Ltd 

“Directors” : The directors of the Company as at the date of this Appendix 

“Group” or “MFS Group” : The Company and its subsidiaries 

“Interested Person” : A director, chief executive officer or controlling shareholder of the Company or an associate of such 

director, chief executive officer or controlling shareholder

“Interested Person 

Transaction”

: A transaction proposed to be entered into between a member of the MFS Group and any Interested 

Person

“Latest Practicable Date” : The latest practicable date prior to the printing of this Appendix, being 11 December 2009 

“Listing Manual” : The listing manual of the SGX-ST 

“Market Day” : Means a day on which the SGX-ST is open for trading in securities

“Options” : Options to subscribe for new Shares granted pursuant to the MFS share option scheme

“Securities Account” : A securities account maintained by a Depositor with CDP but does not include a securities sub-

account

“SGX-ST” : Singapore Exchange Securities Trading Limited 

“Share Plans” : The MFS share option scheme adopted by the Company on 28 December 2001 and the MFS 

performance share plan and MFS share appreciation rights plan adopted by the Company on 30 July 

2008, as modified or altered from time to time

“Shareholders” : Registered holders of Shares, except that where the registered holder is CDP, the term “Shareholders” 

shall, where the context admits, mean the Depositors whose Securities Accounts are credited with 

Shares 

“Shares” : Ordinary shares in the capital of the Company 

“Shareholders’ Mandate” : The general mandate of the Company for interested persons transactions which was renewed by the 

Company at an annual general meeting held on 23 January 2009

“Share Purchase Mandate” : The mandate to enable the Company to purchase or otherwise acquire Shares of the Company which 

was adopted at the 2008 EGM

“Take-over Code” : The Singapore Code on Take-overs and Mergers 

“WT” : Wearnes Technology (Private) Limited

“S$” or “$” and “¢” : Singapore dollars and cents, respectively 

“%” or “per cent.” : Per centum or percentage 

DEFINITIONS
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The terms “Depositor” and “Depository Register” shall have the meanings ascribed to them respectively in Section 130A 

of the Companies Act. 

Words importing the singular shall, where applicable, include the plural and vice versa. Words importing the masculine gender 

shall, where applicable, include the feminine and neuter genders. 

References to persons shall include corporations. 

Any reference in this Appendix to any enactment is a reference to that enactment as for the time being amended or re-enacted. 

Any word defined under the Companies Act, the Listing Manual or any modification thereof and not otherwise defined in this 

Appendix shall have the same meaning assigned to it under the Companies Act, the Listing Manual or any modification thereof, 

as the case may be. 

Any reference to a time of day in this Appendix is made by reference to Singapore time unless otherwise stated. 
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1. Introduction 

1.1 The purpose of this Appendix is to provide Shareholders with the relevant information relating to, and to seek 

Shareholders’ approval at the AGM for the following proposals:

1.1.1 the proposed renewal of the Shareholders’ Mandate that will enable the Group to enter into transactions with 

1.1.2 the proposed renewal of the Share Purchase Mandate to enable the Company to purchase or otherwise 

acquire Shares of the Company.  

1.2 Shareholders’ Mandate

At the annual general meeting held on 23 January 2009, approval of the Shareholders was obtained for, inter alia,

the renewal of the Shareholders’ Mandate, to enable the Group in the ordinary course of business, to enter into 

transactions with Interested Persons in compliance with Chapter 9 of the Listing Manual. Pursuant to Chapter 

9 of the Listing Manual, the Shareholders’ Mandate, which was renewed at an annual general meeting held on 

23 January 2009, will continue in force until the AGM. Accordingly, the Directors propose that the Shareholders’ 

Mandate be renewed at the AGM to be held on 25 January 2010 to take effect until the next annual general 

meeting of the Company. 

General information relating to Chapter 9 of the Listing Manual, including the meanings of terms such as “interested 

person”, “associate”, “associated company” and “controlling shareholder”, are set out in the Annexure of this 

Appendix.

1.3 Share Purchase Mandate

At the 2008 EGM, Shareholders had approved, inter alia, the Share Purchase Mandate to enable the Company to 

purchase or acquire the Shares of the Company. The rationale for, the authority and limitations on, and the financial 

effects of, the Share Purchase Mandate were set out in the 2008 Circular. 

The Share Purchase Mandate was expressed to take effect on the date of the passing of Ordinary Resolution 4 at 

the 2008 EGM and will expire on the date of the forthcoming AGM. The Directors propose that the Share Purchase 

Mandate be renewed at the AGM to authorise the Company to purchase or acquire Shares. 

2. Shareholders’ Mandate 

2.1 Rationale For and Benefits of the Shareholders’ Mandate 

In the ordinary course of the MFS Group’s business activities, the MFS Group and the Interested Persons may 

enter into transactions with each other from time to time. Further, it is likely that such transactions will occur with 

some degree of frequency and could arise at any time. 

PROPOSED RENEWAL OF THE SHAREHOLDERS’ MANDATE FOR 
INTERESTED PERSON TRANSACTIONS AND THE SHARE PURCHASE 
MANDATE
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The Directors are of the view that it will be beneficial to the MFS Group to transact or continue to transact with the 

Interested Persons, especially since the transactions would be entered into on normal commercial terms. 

The Company is seeking Shareholders’ approval pursuant to Chapter 9 of the Listing Manual for the renewal of the 

Shareholders’ Mandate to enable the MFS Group to enter into transactions with the Interested Persons, provided that 

such transactions are entered into in the MFS Group’s ordinary course of business, are on normal commercial terms and 

are not prejudicial to the interests of the Company and its minority Shareholders. 

Due to the time-sensitive nature of the commercial transactions, the Shareholders’ Mandate is intended to enhance the 

MFS Group’s ability to pursue business opportunities, without the need for the Company to announce, or to announce 

and convene separate general meetings on each occasion to seek Shareholders’ prior approval for the MFS Group to 

enter into such transactions. This will substantially reduce administrative time and expenses associated with the making 

of such announcements or the convening of general meetings from time to time, and allow resources to be focused 

towards other corporate and business opportunities. 

2.2. Classes of Interested Persons 

The renewed Shareholders’ Mandate will apply to certain transactions (as described in paragraph 2.3 below) 

which are carried out between the MFS Group and WBL Corporation Limited (“WBL”), WT and its subsidiaries and 

associated companies (the “WT Group”).

WBL owns 77.30 per cent. equity interest in the Company through its 99.97 per cent.-owned subsidiary, WT. 

The WT Group is engaged in activities such as investments in information technology companies, the design, 

manufacture and sale of flexible printed circuits (“FPCs”), printed circuit boards (“PCBs”), electronic components, 

precision die casting products and the trading of electronic components. 

Wearnes Brothers Services (Private) Limited (“WBS”) (a wholly-owned subsidiary of WBL) is a management services 

company. 

2.3. Scope of Interested Person Transactions 

The Interested Person Transactions which will be covered by the Shareholders’ Mandate are set out below:

2.3.1 General Transactions 

This category relates to general transactions (the “General Transactions”) in connection with the provision 

to, or obtaining from, the Interested Persons of products and services in the normal course of business of 

the MFS Group or which are necessary for the day-to-day operations of the MFS Group comprising the 

following:
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(d) payment to or receipt of referral fees from Multi-Fineline Electronix, Inc., a subsidiary of WT, pursuant 

to the Memorandum of Cooperation, details of which are set out under the section entitled “Potential 

Conflict of Interests” on pages 113 to 115 of the prospectus of the Company dated 8 January 2002.

2.3.2 Corporate Services 

The Company entered into a corporate services agreement dated 28 December 2001 (the “Corporate

Services Agreement”) with WBS, a management services company, pursuant to which WBS will provide 

or procure the provision of corporate services by WBS to the MFS Group (the “Corporate Services”). This 

corporate support provided to the Company will enable it to derive operational and financial leverage in its 

dealings with third parties, as well as benefit from the global network of the WBL Group. 

Under the Corporate Services Agreement, WBS will, in consideration of the MFS Group having access to, 

and deriving benefit from, the Corporate Services to be provided by WBS, recover from the Company for 

such Corporate Services on the basis of WBS’ costs, including all related costs and expenses which WBS 

incurs directly or indirectly in the provision of these services plus a margin of five per cent.. These charges are 

in line with the rates which WBS charges for similar corporate services provided to other companies within 

the WBL Group.

The Shareholders’ Mandate will not cover any transactions between the MFS Group and the Interested 

Persons which have a value below S$100,000 as the threshold and aggregation requirements under Chapter 

9 of the Listing Manual do not apply to such transactions. In addition, the transactions will not include the 

purchase or sale of assets, undertakings or businesses that are not in the MFS Group’s ordinary course of 

business.

Transactions with the Interested Persons that do not fall within the ambit of the Shareholders’ Mandate will 

be subject to the provisions of Chapter 9 and/or other applicable provisions of the Listing Manual. 

If approved at the AGM, the Shareholders’ Mandate will take effect from the date of the passing of the 

resolution to be proposed at the AGM and will continue to be in force until the next annual general meeting. The 

Company will seek the approval of Shareholders for the renewal of the Shareholders’ Mandate annually. 

Pursuant to Rule 920(1)(a) of the Listing Manual, the Company is required to: 

(a) disclose the Shareholders’ Mandate in the Company’s annual report, giving details of the aggregate 

value of transactions conducted pursuant to the Shareholders’ Mandate during the financial year under 
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(b) announce the aggregate value of transactions conducted pursuant to the Shareholders’ Mandate for 

the financial periods which it is required to report on (pursuant to Rule 705 of the Listing Manual) within 

the time period required for the announcement of the financial results of the Group (in the form set out 

in Rule 907 of the Listing Manual). 

2.4 Review Procedures For Interested Person Transactions 

2.4.1 All transactions with the Interested Persons shall comply with the requirements of the Listing Manual. As 

required by Clause 9(e) of Appendix 2.2 of the Listing Manual, the Articles of Association of the Company 

require a Director to abstain from voting on any contract or arrangement in which he has a personal material 

interest. 

2.4.2 The Company’s internal control procedures will ensure that the Interested Person Transactions are conducted 

at arm’s length, on normal commercial terms and not prejudicial to the interests of the Company and its 

minority Shareholders. Such internal controls include the following: 

(a) All Interested Person Transactions shall be summarised and submitted to the Audit Committee for 

quarterly review.

(i) In relation to the General Transactions, judgement as to whether the terms are at arm’s length 

shall be based on the following considerations:

(1) when purchasing electronic components and/or procuring the services from an Interested 

Person, the costs and terms of at least two other competitive bids from third parties, 

contemporaneous in time, shall be obtained. Generally, the cost of goods to be purchased 

or services to be procured from the Interested Person should not be higher than the most 

competitive bid of the other two or more competitive offers from third parties, provided that 

in determining the most competitive bid, the nature of the service, cost, experience and 

(2) when selling goods and/or providing services to an Interested Person, the prices and terms 

of at least two other recent sales to third parties should be taken into account. Generally, 

the sale price to the Interested Person should not be lower than the lowest sale price of 

these sales to third parties, taking into account factors such as, but not limited to, quantity, 

volume consumption, customer requirements and specifications, duration of contract and 

strategic purposes of the transaction.

(ii) In relation to the Corporate Services, the Audit Committee will continue to review the management 

fees and administrative service fees payable to WBS on a quarterly basis, to ensure that the costs 

recovered by WBS are in accordance with the Corporate Services Agreement. In conjunction 

with the review, the Audit Committee will review the nature and extent of the services provided 

under the Corporate Services Agreement.
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(b)   The Company will monitor the Interested Person Transactions entered into by categorising the 

transactions as follows:

(i) a Category 1 Interested Person Transaction is one where the value thereof is in excess of 

(ii) a Category 2 Interested Person Transaction is one where the value thereof is below or equal to 

S$300,000.

A Category 1 Interested Person Transaction must be approved by the Audit Committee prior to its 

entry. A Category 2 Interested Person Transaction need not have the prior approval of the Audit 

Committee but shall be reviewed on a quarterly basis by the Audit Committee. A Director interested 

in the transaction will not be consulted in the selection process and will abstain from reviewing that 

particular transaction. 

(c) Before any agreement or arrangement which is not in the ordinary course of business of the MFS Group 

is transacted, such as the purchase/sale of businesses or assets from/to the Interested Persons, prior 

approval must be obtained from the Audit Committee notwithstanding that the value thereof is below 

or equal to S$300,000. Any decision to proceed with such an agreement or arrangement would be 

recorded for review by the Audit Committee. 

2.4.3 The Directors will ensure that all disclosure requirements on the Interested Person Transactions, including 

those required by prevailing legislation, the Listing Manual and accounting standards, are complied with. 

In addition, such transactions will be subject to Shareholders’ approval if required by the Listing Manual. 

The Company will disclose in its annual report the aggregate value of the Interested Person Transactions 

conducted during the financial year. 

2.4.4 The Company will maintain a register of transactions carried out with the Interested Persons pursuant to 

the Shareholders’ Mandate (recording the basis, including the quotations obtained to support such basis, 

on which they were entered into), and the Company’s internal audit plan will incorporate a review of all 

transactions entered into in the relevant financial year pursuant to the Shareholders’ Mandate. 

2.4.5 The Audit Committee shall review these internal audit reports on the Interested Person Transactions quarterly 

to ascertain that the established review procedures to monitor the Interested Person Transactions have been 

complied with. 

2.4.6 If, during these periodic reviews by the Audit Committee, the Audit Committee is of the view that the review 

procedures as stated above have become inappropriate or insufficient in view of changes to the nature of, 

or the manner in which, the business activities of the MFS Group are conducted, the Company will revert to 

Shareholders for a fresh mandate based on new guidelines and review procedures to ensure that Interested 

Person Transactions will be conducted at arm’s length, on normal commercial terms and not prejudicial to 

the interests of the Company and its minority Shareholders. 
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3. Share Purchase Mandate

3.1 Rationale For and Benefits of the Share Purchase Mandate 

The rationale for the Company to undertake the purchase or acquisition of its issued Shares, as previously stated 

on page 27 of the 2008 Circular, are as follows:

3.1.1 in managing the business of the Company, management strives to increase Shareholders’ value by improving, 

inter alia, the return on equity (the “ROE”) of the Company. Share purchase is one of the ways through which 

3.1.2 the Share Purchase Mandate is an expedient, effective and cost-efficient way for the Company to return 

surplus cash which is in excess of the financial and possible investment needs of the Group to its Shareholders. 

In addition, the Share Purchase Mandate will allow the Company to have greater flexibility over, inter alia, the 

3.1.3 share repurchase programmes help buffer short-term share price volatility and off-set the effects of short-

3.1.4 Shares purchased or acquired pursuant to the Share Purchase Mandate and held as treasury shares may 

be utilised by the Company to satisfy Options or Awards granted under the Share Plans, thus giving the 

Company greater flexibility to select the method of providing Shares to employees most beneficial to the 

Company and its Shareholders.

While the Share Purchase Mandate would authorise a purchase or acquisition of Shares up to the said 10 per cent. 

limit, Shareholders should note that purchases or acquisitions of Shares pursuant to the Share Purchase Mandate 

may not be carried out to the full 10 per cent. limit as authorised and no purchases or acquisitions of Shares would 

be made in circumstances which would have or may have a material adverse effect on the financial position of the 

Company.

3.2 Authority and Limits on the Share Purchase Mandate

The authority and limitations placed on the purchases or acquisitions of Shares under the Share Purchase Mandate, 

if renewed at the AGM, are substantially the same as previously approved by Shareholders and are as follows:

3.2.1 Maximum Number of Shares

Only Shares which are issued and fully paid may be purchased or acquired by the Company. The total 

number of Shares which may be purchased or acquired by the Company pursuant to the Share Purchase 

Mandate is limited to that number of Shares representing not more than 10 per cent. of the issued Shares as 

at the date of the AGM at which the renewal of the Share Purchase Mandate is approved. Any Shares which 

are held as treasury shares will be disregarded for purposes of computing the 10 per cent. limit.
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Based on 653,430,497 issued Shares as at the Latest Practicable Date and assuming no further Shares are 

issued or repurchased and held as treasury shares, on or prior to the AGM, the purchase by the Company 

of up to the maximum limit of 10 per cent. of its issued Shares will result in the purchase or acquisition of 

65,343,049 Shares.

Purely for illustrative purposes, on the basis of 653,430,497 Shares in issue as at the Latest Practicable 

Date, and disregarding any Shares held in treasury as at the Latest Practicable Date, and assuming no 

further Shares are issued pursuant to the exercise of exercisable Options or vesting of Awards on or prior 

to the AGM, not more than 65,343,049 Shares (representing 10 per cent. of the Shares in issue (excluding 

the Shares held in treasury) as at that date) may be purchased or acquired by the Company pursuant to the 

Share Purchase Mandate, if its renewal is approved by Shareholders at the AGM.

3.2.2 Duration of Authority

Purchases or acquisitions of Shares may be made, at any time and from time to time, on and from the date 

of the AGM at which the renewal of the Share Purchase Mandate is approved up to:

(a) the date on which the next annual general meeting of the Company is held or required by law to be 

(b) the date on which the authority conferred by the Share Purchase Mandate is revoked or varied, 

whichever is the earlier.

3.2.3 Manner of Purchase or Acquisition of Shares 

Purchases or acquisitions of Shares may be made by:

(a) on-market purchases (“Market Purchases”) transacted on the SGX-ST through the SGX-ST’s trading 

system or any other stock exchange on which the Shares may for the time being be listed and quoted, 

(b) off-market purchases (“Off-Market Purchases”), otherwise than on a stock exchange, effected 

pursuant to an equal access scheme.

The Directors may impose such terms and conditions which are not inconsistent with the Share Purchase 

Mandate, the Listing Manual and the Companies Act, as they consider fit in the interests of the Company 

in connection with or in relation to any equal access scheme or schemes. An Off-Market Purchase must, 

however, satisfy all the following conditions:
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(I) offers for the purchase or the acquisition of Shares shall be made to every person who holds Shares to 

(III) the terms of all the offers shall be the same, except that there shall be disregarded (1) differences in 

consideration attributable to the fact that offers may relate to Shares with different accrued dividend 

entitlements and (2) differences in the offers introduced solely to ensure that each person is left with a 

whole number of Shares.

If the Company wishes to make an Off-Market Purchase in accordance with an equal access scheme, it will 

issue an offer document containing at least the following information:

(iii) the information required under Rules 883(2), (3), (4) and (5) of the Listing Manual.

3.2.4 Purchase Price

The purchase price (excluding brokerage, commission, applicable goods and services tax, and other related 

expenses) to be paid for a Share will be determined by the Directors. 

The purchase price to be paid for the Shares as determined by the Directors must not exceed:

(b) in the case of an Off-Market Purchase, 110 per cent. of the Average Closing Price of the Shares,

in either case, excluding related expenses of the purchase or acquisition (the “Maximum Price”).

For the above purposes:

“Average Closing Price” means the average of the closing market prices of a Share over the last five Market 

Days, on which transactions in the Shares on the SGX-ST, or as the case may be, such stock exchange on 

which the Shares are listed or quoted were recorded, immediately preceding the date of the Market Purchase 

by the Company or, as the case may be, the date of making of the offer pursuant to the Off-Market Purchase, 

and deemed to be adjusted in accordance with the Listing Manual for any corporate action which occurs 
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“date of making of the offer” means the date on which the Company announces its intention to make 

an offer for an Off-Market Purchase stating the purchase price (which shall not be more than the Maximum 

Price calculated on the foregoing basis) for each Share and the relevant terms of the equal access scheme 

for effecting the Off-Market Purchase.

3.3 Source of Funds

The Company may only apply funds for the purchase or acquisition of the Shares as provided in the Articles 

of Association of the Company and in accordance with the applicable laws in Singapore. The Company may 

not purchase its Shares for a consideration other than cash or, in the case of Market Purchase, for settlement 

otherwise than in accordance with the trading rules of the SGX-ST. The Company may purchase or acquire its own 

Shares out of capital, as well as from its distributable profits.

The Company intends to use its internal sources of funds to finance its purchase or acquisition of the Shares. The 

Company does not intend to obtain or incur any borrowings to finance its purchase or acquisition of the Shares. 

However, in the event these funds are depleted for working capital or investment purposes, the Company may 

consider external borrowings to finance the purchase and acquisition of Shares if the Directors are of the view that 

it will be beneficial to the Company to do so provided that such borrowings shall not be prohibited by the Articles 

of Association of the Company and the Companies Act.

3.4 Reporting Requirements 

The Listing Manual specifies that a listed company shall report all purchases or acquisitions of its shares to the 

SGX-ST not later than 9.00 a.m.: 

(a) in the case of a Market Purchase, on the Market Day following the day of purchase or acquisition of any of 

(b) in the case of an Off-Market Purchase under an equal access scheme, on the second Market Day after the 

close of acceptances of the offer.

Such announcement (which must be in the form of Appendix 8.3.1 to the Listing Manual) must include, inter alia,

details of the date of the purchase, the total number of shares purchased, the number of shares cancelled, the 

number of shares held as treasury shares, the purchase price per share or the highest and lowest prices paid for 

such shares (as applicable), the total consideration (including stamp duties and clearing charges) paid or payable 

for the shares, the number of shares purchased as at the date of announcement (on a cumulative basis), the 

number of issued shares excluding treasury shares and the number of treasury shares held after the purchase.
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3.5 Status of Purchased Shares

Shares purchased or acquired by the Company shall be deemed cancelled immediately on purchase or acquisition 

(and all rights and privileges attached to the Shares will expire on such cancellation) unless such Shares are held by 

the Company as treasury shares. Accordingly, the total number of issued Shares will be diminished by the number 

of Shares purchased or acquired by the Company, which are cancelled and are not held as treasury shares.

3.6 Treasury Shares 

Under the Companies Act, Shares purchased or acquired by the Company may be held or dealt with as treasury 

shares. Some of the provisions on treasury shares under the Companies Act are summarised below.

3.6.1 Maximum Holdings

The number of Shares held as treasury shares cannot at any time exceed 10 per cent. of the total number of 

issued Shares. 

3.6.2 Voting and Other Rights

The Company cannot exercise any right in respect of treasury shares. In particular, the Company cannot 

exercise any right to attend or vote at meetings and for purposes of the Companies Act, the Company shall 

be treated as having no right to vote and the treasury shares shall be treated as having no voting rights. 

In addition, no dividend may be paid, and no other distribution of the Company’s assets may be made, to 

the Company in respect of treasury shares. However, the allotment of Shares as fully paid bonus shares in 

respect of treasury shares is allowed. A subdivision or consolidation of any treasury share into treasury shares 

of a smaller amount is also allowed so long as the total value of the treasury shares after the subdivision or 

consolidation is the same as before.

3.6.3 Disposal and Cancellation

Where Shares are held as treasury shares, the Company may at any time but subject always to the Take-over 

Code:

(c) transfer the treasury shares as consideration for the acquisition of shares in or assets of another 
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(e) sell, transfer or otherwise use the treasury shares for such other purposes as may be prescribed by the 

Minister for Finance.

Under the Listing Manual, an immediate announcement must be made of any sale, transfer, cancellation and/or use 

of treasury shares. Such announcement must include details such as the date of the sale, transfer, cancellation, 

and/or use of such treasury shares, the purpose of the sale, transfer, cancellation and/or use of such treasury 

shares, the number of treasury shares which have been sold, transferred, cancelled and/or used, the number 

of treasury shares before and after such sale, transfer, cancellation and/or use, the percentage of the number of 

treasury shares against the total number of issued shares (of the same class as the treasury shares) which are listed 

on the SGX-ST before and after such sale, transfer, cancellation and/or use, and the value of the treasury shares if 

they are used for such sale or transfer or cancelled. 

3.7 Financial Effects

The financial effects on the Company and the Group arising from purchases or acquisitions of Shares which may 

be made pursuant to the Share Purchase Mandate will depend on, inter alia, whether the Shares are purchased or 

acquired out of profits or capital of the Company, the number of Shares purchased or acquired, the price paid for 

such Shares and whether the Shares purchased or acquired are held in treasury or cancelled. The financial effects 

on the Company and the Group for the financial year ended 30 September 2009 are based on the assumptions 

set out below:

3.7.1 Purchase or Acquisition out of Capital or Profits

Purchases or acquisitions of Shares by the Company may be made out of the Company’s capital or profits.

Where the consideration paid by the Company for the purchase or acquisition of Shares is made out of 

profits, such consideration (excluding brokerage, commission, applicable goods and services tax and other 

related expenses) will correspondingly reduce the amount available for the distribution of cash dividends by 

the Company.

Where the consideration paid by the Company for the purchase or acquisition of Shares is made out of 

capital, the amount available for the distribution of cash dividends by the Company will not be reduced.

3.7.2 Number of Shares Acquired or Purchased

For illustrative purpose only, based on the number of issued Shares as at the Latest Practicable Date (and 

disregarding the Shares held in treasury) and on the assumptions set on in paragraph 3.2.1 above, the 

purchase by the Company of the maximum limit of 10 per cent. of its issued Shares will result in the purchase 

or acquisition of 65,430,049 Shares.
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3.7.3 Maximum Price Paid for Shares Acquired or Purchased

Assuming that the Company purchases or acquires the 65,343,049 Shares and the Average Closing Price 

(as defined in paragraph 3.2.4 above) is S$0.25, the maximum amount of funds required is approximately:

(a) in the case of Market Purchases of Shares, S$17,152,550 based on S$0.2625 per Share (being the 

price equivalent to five per cent. above Average Closing Price of the Shares traded on the SGX-ST over 

(b) in the case of Off-Market Purchases of Shares, S$17,969,338 based on S$0.275 per Share (being the 

price equivalent to 10 per cent. above Average Closing Price of the Shares traded on the SGX-ST over 

the last five consecutive Market Days).

3.7.4 Illustrative Financial Effects

The financial effects on the Group arising from purchases or acquisitions of Shares which may be made 

pursuant to the proposed Share Purchase Mandate will depend on, inter alia, the aggregate number of 

Shares purchased or acquired, the consideration paid at the relevant time and whether the Shares purchased 

or acquired are cancelled or held in treasury.

For illustrative purposes only, on the basis of the assumptions set out in paragraphs 3.7.2 and 3.7.3 above, 

the financial effects of the purchase or acquisition of Shares by the Company pursuant to the proposed 

Share Purchase Mandate on the audited financial accounts of the Company and the Group for the financial 

year ended 30 September 2009 are set out as follows: 
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Market Purchases made entirely out of capital and held as treasury shares

Group Company

As at 30 September 2009

Before Share 

Purchases

$’000

After Share 

Purchases

$’000

Before Share 

Purchases

$’000

After Share 

Purchases

$’000

Share Capital 71,124 71,124 71,124 71,124

Other Reserves 1,139 1,139 1,028 1,028

Revenue Reserves 54,103 54,103 (228) (228)

126,366 126,366 71,924 71,924

Treasury Shares (1,260) (17,153) (1,260) (17,153)

Shareholder’s Funds 125,106 109,213 70,664 54,771

Net Tangible Assets (“NTA”) 125,106 109,213 70,664 54,771

Current Assets 101,151 83,998 31,977 14,824

Current Liabilities 37,390 37,390 541 541

Total Borrowings - - - -

Cash and Cash Equivalents 33,360 16,207 1,227 5,397

Number of Shares (’000) 653,430 588,087 654,430 588,087

Financial Ratios

Basic earnings per Share (“EPS”) (¢) -1.9 -2.2 0.5 0.5

Diluted EPS (¢) -1.9 -2.2 0.5 0.5

NTA per Share (¢) 19.1 18.6 10.8 9.3

Gross Gearing (%) 0.0 0.0 Not applicable Not applicable

Current Ratio (times) 2.7 2.2 59.1 27.4

ROE (%) -10.1 -11.6 4.2 5.4

Assumptions

Average share price (S$) 0.25

Purchase price per share (being 105 per cent of the

   Average Closing Price of the Shares traded on the

   SGX-ST over the last five consecutive Market

   days) (S$) 0.2625

No. of Shares Purchased at 10% 65,343,049

Aggregate purchase price (S$) 17,152,550
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Market Purchases made entirely out of capital and cancelled

Group Company

As at 30 September 2009

Before Share 

Purchases

$’000

After Share 

Purchases

$’000

Before Share 

Purchases

$’000

After Share 

Purchases

$’000

Share Capital 71,124 57,255 71,124 53,971

Other Reserves 1,139 1,139 1,028 1,028

Revenue Reserves 54,103 54,103 (228) (228)

126,366 112,497 71,924 54,771

Treasury Shares (1,260) - (1,260) -

Shareholder’s Funds 125,106 112,497 70,664 54,771

Net Tangible Assets (“NTA”) 125,106 109,213 70,664 54,771

Current Assets 101,151 83,998 31,977 14,824

Current Liabilities 37,390 37,390 541 541

Total Borrowings - - - -

Cash and Cash Equivalents 33,360 16,207 1,227 5,397

Number of Shares (’000) 653,430 588,087 654,430 588,087

Financial Ratios

Basic earnings per Share (“EPS”) (¢) -1.9 -2.2 0.5 0.5

Diluted EPS (¢) -1.9 -2.2 0.5 0.5

NTA per Share (¢) 19.1 18.6 10.8 9.3

Gross Gearing (%) 0.0 0.0 Not applicable Not applicable

Current Ratio (times) 2.7 2.2 59.1 27.4

ROE (%) -10.1 -11.3 4.2 5.4

Assumptions

Average share price (S$) 0.25

Purchase price per share (being 105 per cent of the

   Average Closing Price of the Shares traded on the

   SGX-ST over the last five consecutive Market 

   days) (S$) 0.2625

No. of Shares Purchased at 10% 65,343,049

Aggregate purchase price (S$) 17,152,550
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Off-Market Purchases made entirely out of capital and held as treasury shares

Group Company

As at 30 September 2009

Before Share 

Purchases

$’000

After Share 

Purchases

$’000

Before Share 

Purchases

$’000

After Share 

Purchases

$’000

Share Capital 71,124 71,124 71,124 71,124

Other Reserves 1,139 1,139 1,028 1,028

Revenue Reserves 54,103 54,103 (228) (228)

126,366 126,366 71,924 71,924

Treasury Shares (1,260) (17,969) (1,260) (17,969)

Shareholder’s Funds 125,106 108,397 70,664 53,955

Net Tangible Assets (“NTA”) 125,106 108,397 70,664 52,695

Current Assets 101,151 83,182 31,977 14,008

Current Liabilities 37,390 37,390 541 541

Total Borrowings - - - -

Cash and Cash Equivalents 33,360 15,391 1,227 5,397

Number of Shares (’000) 653,430 588,087 654,430 588,087

Financial Ratios

Basic earnings per Share (“EPS”) (¢) -1.9 -2.2 0.5 0.5

Diluted EPS (¢) -1.9 -2.2 0.5 0.5

NTA per Share (¢) 19.1 18.4 10.8 9.0

Gross Gearing (%) 0.0 0.0 Not applicable Not applicable

Current Ratio (times) 2.7 2.2 59.1 25.9

ROE (%) -10.1 -11.7 4.2 5.5

Assumptions

Average share price (S$) 0.25

Purchase price per share (being 110 per cent of the

   Average Closing Price of the Shares traded on the

   SGX-ST over the last five consecutive Market

   days) (S$) 0.275

No. of Shares Purchased at 10% 65,343,049

Aggregate purchase price (S$) 17,969,338
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Off-Market Purchases made entirely out of capital and cancelled

Group Company

As at 30 September 2009

Before Share 

Purchases

$’000

After Share 

Purchases

$’000

Before Share 

Purchases

$’000

After Share 

Purchases

$’000

Share Capital 71,124 53,155 71,124 53,155

Other Reserves 1,139 1,139 1,028 1,028

Revenue Reserves 54,103 54,103 (228) (228)

126,366 108,397 71,924 53,955

Treasury Shares (1,260) - (1,260) -

Shareholder’s Funds 125,106 108,397 70,664 53,955

Net Tangible Assets (“NTA”) 125,106 108,397 70,664 52,695

Current Assets 101,151 83,182 31,977 14,008

Current Liabilities 37,390 37,390 541 541

Total Borrowings - - - -

Cash and Cash Equivalents 33,360 16,207 1,227 5,397

Number of Shares (’000) 653,430 588,087 654,430 588,087

Financial Ratios

Basic earnings per Share (“EPS”) (¢) -1.9 -2.2 0.5 0.5

Diluted EPS (¢) -1.9 -2.2 0.5 0.5

NTA per Share (¢) 19.1 18.4 10.8 9.0

Gross Gearing (%) 0.0 0.0 Not applicable Not applicable

Current Ratio (times) 2.7 2.2 59.1 25.9

ROE (%) -10.1 -11.7 4.2 5.5

Assumptions

Average share price (S$) 0.25

Purchase price per share (being 110 per cent of the

   Average Closing Price of the Shares traded on the

   SGX-ST over the last five consecutive Market

   days) (S$) 0.275

No. of Shares Purchased at 10% 65,343,049

Aggregate purchase price (S$) 17,969,338
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The financial effects set out above, based on the respective aforementioned assumptions, are for illustrative 

purposes only. Although the proposed Share Purchase Mandate would authorise the Company to purchase or 

acquire up to 10 per cent. of the issued Shares (excluding treasury Shares), the Company may not necessarily 

purchase or acquire or be able to purchase or acquire any or all of the 10 per cent. of the issued Shares (excluding 

treasury Shares). In addition, the Company may cancel all or part of the Shares repurchased and/or hold all or part 

of the Shares repurchased as treasury shares. 

3.8 Listing Status of the Shares 

The Listing Manual requires a listed company to ensure that at least 10 per cent. of the total number of issued 

shares (excluding treasury shares, preference shares and convertible equity securities) in a class that is listed is at 

all times held by the public. The “public”, as defined in the Listing Manual, are persons other than the directors, 

chief executive officer, substantial shareholders or controlling shareholders of a listed company and its subsidiaries, 

as well as associates (as defined in the Listing Manual) of such persons. 

As at the Latest Practicable Date, WT, a substantial Shareholder, directly holds approximately 77.3 per cent. of 

the issued Shares. As at the Latest Practicable Date approximately 22.7 per cent. of the issued Shares (excluding 

treasury Shares) are held by public shareholders. 

Accordingly, the Company is of the view that there is a sufficient number of Shares in issue held by public 

shareholders which would permit the Company to undertake purchases or acquisitions of its Shares up to the 

full 10 per cent. limit pursuant to the proposed Share Purchase Mandate without affecting the listing status of the 

Shares on the SGX-ST, causing market illiquidity or affecting orderly trading.

3.9 No Purchases during Price Sensitive Developments 

While the Listing Manual does not expressly prohibit any purchase of shares by a listed company during any 

particular time or times, because the listed company would be regarded as an “insider” in relation to any proposed 

purchase or acquisition of its issued shares, the Company will not undertake any purchase or acquisition of Shares 

pursuant to the proposed Share Purchase Mandate at anytime after a price sensitive development has occurred 

or has been the subject of a decision until the price sensitive information has been publicly announced.

In particular, the Company would not purchase or acquire any Shares through Market Purchases during the period 

of one-month immediately preceding the announcement of the Company’s full-year and half year results and the 

period of two weeks before the announcement of the Company’s first quarter and the third quarter results. 

3.10 Take-over Implications 

Appendix 2 of the Take-over Code (“Appendix 2”) contains the Share Buy-Back Guidance Note. The take-over 

implications arising from any purchase or acquisition by the Company of its Shares are set out below.
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3.10.1 Obligation to make a Take-over Offer

If, as a result of any purchase or acquisition of Shares by the Company of Shares, a Shareholder’s proportionate 

interest in the voting capital of the Company increases, such increase will be treated as an acquisition for the 

purposes of the Take-over Code. Consequently, if a Shareholder or a group of Shareholders acting in concert 

obtains or consolidates effective control of the Company, such Shareholder or group of Shareholders acting 

in concert could become obliged to make a take-over offer for the Company under Rule 14 of the Take-over 

Code.

3.10.2 Persons Acting in Concert

Under the Take-over Code, persons acting in concert comprise individuals or companies who, pursuant to 

an agreement or understanding (whether formal or informal) co-operate, through the acquisition by any of 

them of shares in a company to obtain or consolidate effective control of that company.

Unless the contrary is established, the Take-over Code presumes, inter alia, the following individuals and 

companies to be persons acting in concert with each other:

(a) the following companies:

(vii) any person who has provided financial assistance (other than a bank in the ordinary course of 

(b) a company with any of its directors (together with their close relatives, related trusts as well as 

companies controlled by any of the directors, their close relatives and related trusts).

The circumstances under which Shareholders, including Directors and persons acting in concert with them 

respectively, will incur an obligation to make a take-over offer under Rule 14 of the Take-over Code after a 

purchase or acquisition of Shares by the Company are set out in Appendix 2 of the Take-over Code.
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3.10.3 Effect of Rule 14 and Appendix 2

In general terms, the effect of Rule 14 and Appendix 2 to the Take-over Code is that, unless exempted, 

Directors and persons acting in concert with them will incur an obligation to make a take-over offer under 

Rule 14 if, as a result of the Company purchasing or acquiring Shares, the voting rights of such Directors 

and their concert parties would increase to 30 per cent. or more, or in the event that such Directors and 

their concert parties hold between 30 per cent. and 50 per cent. of the Company’s voting rights, if the 

voting rights of such Directors and their concert parties would increase by more than one per cent. in any 

period of six months. In calculating the percentages of voting rights of such Directors and their concert 

parties, treasury shares shall be excluded.

Under Appendix 2 of the Take-over Code, a Shareholder not acting in concert with the Directors will not 

be required to make a take-over offer under Rule 14 of the Take-over Code if, as a result of the Company 

purchasing or acquiring its Shares, the voting rights of such Shareholder would increase to 30 per cent. 

or more, or if such Shareholder holds between 30 per cent. and 50 per cent. of the Company’s voting 

rights, the voting rights of such Shareholder would increase by more than one per cent. in any period of six 

months. Such Shareholder need not abstain from voting in respect of the resolution authorising the Share 

Purchase Mandate.

Based on substantial shareholder notifications received by the Company under Division 4, Part IV of the 

Companies Act as at the Latest Practicable Date as set out in paragraph 4.1 below, none of the substantial 

Shareholders of the Company would become obliged to make a take-over offer for the Company under 

Rule 14 of the Take-over Code as a result of the purchase or acquisition by the Company of the maximum 

limit of 10 per cent. of its Shares as at the Latest Practicable Date.

Shareholders who are in doubt as to their obligations, if any, to make a mandatory take-over offer 

under the Take-over Code as a result of any purchase or acquisition of Shares by the Company 

should consult the Securities Industry Council and/or their professional advisers at the earliest 

opportunity.

3.11 Details of Share Purchase

The Company had on 25 November 2008 purchased or acquired 7,000,000 Shares by way of Market Purchases 

pursuant to the Share Purchase Mandate approved by Shareholders at the 2008 EGM. The price paid was S$0.18 

per Share. The total consideration paid for the purchase was S$1,264,010.90. 
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4. Directors’ and Substantial Shareholders’ Interests 

4.1 The interests of the Directors and the substantial Shareholders in the Shares as at the Latest Practicable Date are 

set out below:

Director

Number of Shares Number of Shares comprised 

in outstanding Options and/or 

Awards granted by the Company

Direct

Interest %

Deemed

Interest %

Professor Cham Tao Soon - - - - -

Pang Tak Lim 8,113,500 1.24 - - 796,000

Reggie Thein - - 75,000 nm(1) -

Sin Boon Ann 75,000 nm(1) - - -

Alexander Chan Meng Wah 75,000 nm(1) - - -

Lester Wong Hein Jee 750,000 0.11 - - -

Dr. Lim Huat Seng - - - - -

Substantial Shareholders No. of Shares

Direct Interest %

No. of Shares

Deemed Interest %

WT 505,128,000 77.30 - -

WBL Corporation Limited -     - 505,128,000 (2) 77.30

Notes:
(1) Not meaningful. 
(2) WBL is deemed to be interested in all the Shares held by its subsidiary, WT. 

4.2 Abstention from Voting

Mr. Pang Tak Lim, Dr. Cham Tao Soon, Dr. Lim Huat Seng and Mr. Wong Hein Jee, Lester who are executives 

of or who hold directorships or have held directorships in the WT Group in the past three years, will abstain from 

voting on the Ordinary Resolution relating to the proposed renewal of the Shareholders’ Mandate in respect of their 

shareholdings in the Company, if any, at the forthcoming AGM. In addition, Mr. Pang Tak Lim, Dr. Cham Tao Soon, 

Dr. Lim Huat Seng and Mr. Wong Hein Jee, Lester will decline to accept appointment as proxies for Shareholders to 

vote on the Ordinary Resolution relating to the proposed renewal of the Shareholders’ Mandate at the forthcoming 

AGM unless the Shareholder concerned shall have given specific instructions in his Proxy Form as to the manner 

in which his votes are to be cast in respect of such Ordinary Resolution. Mr. Pang Tak Lim, Dr. Cham Tao Soon, Dr. 

Lim Huat Seng and Mr. Wong Hein Jee, Lester have also undertaken to ensure that their respective associates will 

abstain from voting on the Ordinary Resolution relating to the proposed renewal of the Shareholders’ Mandate in 

respect of their shareholding interest, if any, in the Company at the AGM. 
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WT and its associates, being Interested Persons, will also abstain from voting on the Ordinary Resolution relating 

to the proposed renewal of the Shareholders’ Mandate in respect of their shareholdings in the Company, if any, at 

the forthcoming AGM.

5. Audit Committee’s Statement 

The Audit Committee (excluding Mr. Wong Hein Jee, Lester) has reviewed the terms of the Shareholders’ Mandate 

subject to the renewal. Having considered, inter alia, the scope, the guidelines on review procedures, the rationale and 

the benefits of the Shareholders’ Mandate, the Audit Committee confirms that (i) the review procedures for determining 

the prices of Interested Person Transactions have not changed since approval for the Shareholders’ Mandate was last 

Person Transactions will be transacted on normal commercial terms and will not be prejudicial to the interests of the 

Company and its minority Shareholders. 

If, during the periodic reviews by the Audit Committee (excluding Mr. Wong Hein Jee, Lester, if applicable), it is of 

the view that the established review procedures are no longer appropriate or adequate to ensure that the Interested 

Person Transactions will be transacted on normal commercial terms and will not be prejudicial to the interests of the 

Company and minority Shareholders, the Company will seek a fresh mandate from Shareholders based on new review 

procedures. 

6. Directors’ Recommendations 

6.1 Proposed Renewal of Shareholders’ Mandate

The Directors who are considered independent for the purposes of the proposed renewal of the Shareholders’ 

Mandate are Mr. Reggie Thein, Mr. Sin Boon Ann and Mr. Alexander Chan Meng Wah (the “Independent

Directors”). The Independent Directors are of the opinion that the entry into of the Interested Person Transactions 

by the MFS Group in the ordinary course of its business will enhance the efficiency of the MFS Group’s operations 

and is in the best interests of the Company. For the reasons set out in paragraph 2 of this Appendix, the Independent 

Directors recommend that Shareholders vote in favour of Resolution 9, being the Ordinary Resolution relating to  

the proposed renewal of the Shareholders’ Mandate at the AGM. 

6.2 Proposed Renewal of Share Purchase Mandate

The Directors are of the opinion that the proposed renewal of the Share Purchase Mandate is in the best interests 

of the Company. For the reasons set out in paragraph 3.1 of this Appendix, the Directors recommend that 

Shareholders vote in favour of Resolution 10, being the Ordinary Resolution relating to the proposed renewal of the 

Share Purchase Mandate to be proposed at the AGM.
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7. Directors’ Responsibility Statement 

The Directors collectively and individually accept full responsibility for the accuracy of the information given in this Appendix 

and confirm, having made all reasonable enquiries, that to the best of their knowledge and belief, the facts stated and 

the opinions expressed in this Appendix are fair and accurate and that there are no material facts the omission of which 

would make any statement in this Appendix misleading. 
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GENERAL INFORMATION RELATING TO CHAPTER 9 OF THE LISTING MANUAL

Scope

Chapter 9 of the Listing Manual applies to transactions which a listed company or any of its subsidiaries (which are not listed 

on the SGX-ST or an approved stock exchange) or associated companies (which are not listed on the SGX-ST or an approved 

stock exchange, provided that the listed group, or the listed group and its interested person(s), has control over the associated 

companies) proposes to enter into with a counter-party which is an interested person of the listed company. 

Definition

An “interested person” means a director, chief executive officer or controlling shareholder of the listed company or an 

associate of any such director, chief executive officer or controlling shareholder. 

An “associate” includes an immediate family member (that is, the spouse, child, adopted child, stepchild, sibling or parent) of 

such director, chief executive officer or controlling shareholder, and any company in which the director/his immediate family, the 

chief executive officer/his immediate family or controlling shareholder/his immediate family has an aggregate interest (directly or 

indirectly) of 30 per cent. or more, and, where a controlling shareholder is a corporation, its subsidiary or holding company or 

fellow subsidiary or a company in which it and/or they have (directly or indirectly) an interest of 30 per cent. or more. 

An “associated company” means a company in which at least 20 per cent. but not more than 50 per cent. of its shares are 

held by the listed company or the group. 

A “controlling shareholder” means a person who holds (directly or indirectly) 15 per cent. or more of the nominal amount of 

all voting shares in the listed company or one who in fact exercises control over the listed company. 

General Requirements 

Except for certain transactions which, by reason of the nature of such transactions, are not considered to put the listed 

company at risk to its interested persons and are hence excluded from the ambit of Chapter 9 of the Listing Manual, immediate 

announcement or, immediate announcement and shareholders’ approval would be required in respect of transactions with 

interested persons if certain financial thresholds (which are based on the value of the transaction as compared with the 

listed company’s latest audited consolidated NTA), are reached or exceeded. In particular, shareholders’ approval is required 

where:

(a) the value of such transaction when aggregated with the value of all other transactions previously entered into with the 

same interested person in the same financial year of the listed company is equal to or exceeds five per cent. of the latest 

(b) the value of such transaction is equal to or exceeds five per cent. of the latest audited consolidated NTA of the listed 

company. 

ANNEXURE
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Immediate announcement of a transaction is required where:

(a) the value of such transaction when aggregated with the value of all other transactions previously entered into with the 

same interested person in the same financial year of the listed company is equal to or exceeds three per cent. of the 

(b) the value of such transaction is equal to or exceeds three per cent. of the latest audited consolidated NTA of the listed 

company. 

General Mandate 

A listed company may seek a general mandate from its shareholders for recurrent transactions of a revenue or trading nature 

or those necessary for its day-to-day operations such as the purchase and sale of supplies and materials but not in respect of 

the purchase or sale of assets, undertakings or businesses. A general mandate is subject to annual renewal. 
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MFS TECHNOLOGY LTD
(Incorporated in the Republic of Singapore) 

Company Registration No. 200009562R

IMPORTANT

1.  For investors who have used their CPF moneys to buy shares in MFS Technology Ltd, this 

Annual Report is sent FOR INFORMATION ONLY.

2.  This Proxy Form is not valid for use by such CPF investors and shall be ineffective for all 

intents and purposes if used or purported to be used by them.

3.  CPF investors who wish to attend the Annual General Meeting as observers must submit 

their requests through their CPF Approved Nominees within the timeframe specified.

4.  CPF investors who wish to vote must submit their voting instructions to their CPF Approved 

Nominees within the timeframe specified to enable them to vote on their behalf.

PROXY FORM
Ninth Annual General Meeting

*I/We  (Name)

of  (Address)

being a *member/members of MFS Technology Ltd (the “Company”) hereby appoint:

Name NRIC/Passport No. Proportion of Shareholdings

No. of Shares %

Address

and/or (delete as appropriate)

Name NRIC/Passport No. Proportion of Shareholdings

No. of Shares %

Address

or failing *him/her, the Chairman of the Ninth Annual General Meeting (the “AGM”) of the Company, as *my/our *proxy/proxies to attend and 
to vote for *me/us on *my/our behalf, at the AGM to be held at 22 Tuas Avenue 8, Singapore 639237 on Monday, 25 January 2010 at 11:30 
a.m. and at any adjournment thereof.

*I/We direct *my/our *proxy/proxies to vote for or against the Resolutions to be proposed at the Meeting as indicated with an “x” in the spaces 
provided hereunder. If no specific direction as to voting is given, the *proxy/proxies will vote or abstain at *his/their discretion, as he/they will 
on any other matter arising at the AGM and at any adjournment thereof. If no person is named in the above boxes, the Chairman of the AGM 
shall be *my/our *proxy/proxies to vote, for or against the Resolutions to be proposed at the AGM as indicated hereunder, for *me/us on *my/
our behalf, at the AGM and at any adjournment thereof.

*Delete as appropriate.

No. Resolutions For Against

Ordinary Business

1. To adopt Directors’ Report and Audited Accounts

2. To re-elect Directors pursuant to Article 96 of the Company’s Articles of Association:

(a) Mr. Pang Tak Lim

(b) Mr. Reggie Thein

3. To re-elect Dr. Lim Huat Seng pursuant to Article 100 of the Company’s Articles of Association

4. To re-appoint Dr. Cham Tao Soon pursuant to Section 153(6) of the Companies Act

5. To approve Directors’ Fees

6. To re-appoint Auditors and authorise Directors to fix their remuneration

Special Business

7. To authorise Directors to make or grant Instruments and to allot and issue new Shares

8. To authorise Directors to grant options and/or awards and allot Shares in accordance with the provisions 

of the Share Plans

9. To approve the renewal of the Shareholders’ Mandate for Interested Person Transactions

10. To approve the renewal of the Share Purchase Mandate 

Dated this …………………. 2010.

Total number of Shares held

_______________________________________________

Signature(s) of Members(s) or Common Seal

IMPORTANT: PLEASE READ NOTES ON THE REVERSE



NOTES:

1. Please insert the total number of Shares held by you. If you have Shares entered against your name in the Depository 

Register (as defined in Section 130A of the Companies Act, Chapter 50 of Singapore), you should insert that number of 

Shares. If you have Shares registered in your name in the Register of Members, you should insert that number of Shares. 

If you have Shares entered against your name in the Depository Register and Shares registered in your name in the 

Register of Members, you should insert the aggregate number of Shares entered against your name in the Depository 

Register and registered in your name in the Register of Members. If no number is inserted, the instrument appointing a 

proxy or proxies shall be deemed to relate to all the Shares held by you.

2. A member of the Company entitled to attend and vote at the AGM is entitled to appoint one or two proxies to attend and 

vote instead of him. A proxy need not be a member of the Company.

3. Where a member appoints two proxies, the appointments shall be invalid unless he specifies the proportion of his 

shareholding (expressed as a percentage of the whole) to be represented by each proxy.

4. The instrument appointing a proxy or proxies must be deposited at 22 Tuas Avenue 8, Singapore 639237, not less than 

48 hours before the time appointed for the AGM.

5. The instrument appointing a proxy or proxies must be under the hand of the appointor or of his attorney duly authorised 

in writing. Where the instrument appointing a proxy or proxies is executed by a corporation, it must be executed either 

under its seal or under the hand of an officer or attorney duly authorised.

6. Where the instrument appointing a proxy is signed on behalf of the appointor by an attorney, the letter or power of attorney 

or a duly certified copy thereof must (failing previous registration with the Company) be lodged with the instrument of 

proxy, failing which the instrument may be treated as invalid.

General:

The Company shall be entitled to reject the instrument appointing a proxy or proxies if it is incomplete, improperly completed or 

illegible or where the true intentions of the appointor are not ascertainable from the instructions of the appointor specified in the 

instrument appointing a proxy or proxies. In addition, in the case of Shares entered in the Depository Register, the Company 

may reject any instrument appointing a proxy or proxies lodged if the member, being the appointor, is not shown to have 

Shares entered against his name in the Depository Register as at 48 hours before the time appointed for holding the AGM, as 

certified by The Central Depository (Pte) Limited to the Company.
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